OULU 2006 D 876

## UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS



Tiina M. Mäkinen

# HUMAN COLD EXPOSURE, ADAPTATION AND PERFORMANCE IN A NORTHERN CLIMATE

FACULTY OF MEDICINE, DEPARTMENT OF PHYSIOLOGY, CENTRE FOR ARCTIC MEDICINE, THULE INSTITUTE, UNIVERSITY OF OULU; FINNISH INSTITUTE OF OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, OULU



#### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS D Medica 876

TIINA M. MÄKINEN

### HUMAN COLD EXPOSURE, ADAPTATION AND PERFORMANCE IN A NORTHERN CLIMATE

Academic Dissertation to be presented with the assent of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oulu, for public discussion in the Auditorium of Kastelli Research Centre (Aapistie I), on June 2nd, 2006, at 12 noon

OULUN YLIOPISTO, OULU 2006

Copyright © 2006 Acta Univ. Oul. D 876, 2006

Supervised by Professor Hannu Rintamäki Professor Lawrence A. Palinkas Professor Juhani Hassi

Reviewed by Doctor John W. Castellani Professor Thomas F. Oltmanns

ISBN 951-42-8088-1 (Paperback) ISBN 951-42-8089-X (PDF) http://herkules.oulu.fi/isbn951428089X/ ISSN 0355-3221 (Printed ) ISSN 1796-2234 (Online) http://herkules.oulu.fi/issn03553221/

Cover design Raimo Ahonen

OULU UNIVERSITY PRESS OULU 2006

## Mäkinen, Tiina M., Human cold exposure, adaptation and performance in a northern climate

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Centre for Arctic Medicine, Thule Institute, University of Oulu, P.O. Box 5000, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland; Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Oulu, Aapistie 1, FI-90220 Oulu, Finland *Acta Univ. Oul. D 876, 2006* Oulu, Finland

#### Abstract

The purpose of the study was to examine the amount of cold exposure and factors affecting it at the population level in Finland, to determine what type of cold acclimatisation, if any, develops in urban residents in winter, and to find out whether cold acclimatisation or acclimation has a functional significance on psychological or physical performance. Tasks of low physical activity requiring attention and concentration (cognition, postural control) were assessed in cold.

In a cross-sectional population study Finns aged from 25 to 74 years (n=6,951) were queried of their wintertime outdoor exposure duration and factors affecting it. In experimental studies seasonal cold acclimatisation (thermal responses) and its effect on cognition were assessed in the laboratory, where 15 young urban subjects were exposed to cold in winter and summer in bright or dim light. A controlled cold acclimation trial (n=10) was performed to study the effects of repeated exposures to cold on cognitive performance and postural control in young urban subjects.

In the Finnish population the average amount of cold exposure in winter represents 4% of the total time. Most of the cold exposure occurs during leisure time and in outdoor occupations (agriculture, forestry, mining, industry, construction). Factors explaining increased occupational cold exposure were: occupation, age and a lesser amount of education. Factors associated with more leisure-time cold exposure were: being employed in outdoor occupations, being a pensioner, housewife, unemployed, practising physical exercise, and reporting at least average health. The experimental studies showed seasonal differences and aggravated thermal responses in urban residents in winter, but did not detect habituation responses typical of cold acclimatisation. In both seasons, acute moderate cold exposure resulted in positive, negative or mixed effects on cognition, reflected as changes in response times and accuracy. Simple cognitive tasks were impaired in cold, and in complex tasks both negative, positive and mixed effects were observed. It is suggested that cold exposure affects cognition through different mechanisms related to either distraction or arousal. Cold exposure increased postural sway by 70-90%, suggesting impaired postural control. Repeated exposures to moderate cold, reducing stress and discomfort and dampening physiological responses, did not markedly affect cognitive performance or postural control.

*Keywords:* acclimation, acclimatisation, body temperature regulation, cognition, cold climate, cold exposure, population, postural control, seasons

Science is not a mechanism but a human progress, and not a set of findings but the search for them (J.Bronowski: Science and human values)

### Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at Kastelli Research Centre in Oulu, Finland. The institutes participating in the studies were: the Centre for Arctic Medicine, Thule Institute at the University of Oulu, the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Oulu, the Department of Physiology at the University of Oulu and the School of Social Work at the University of Southern California. The Graduate School of Circumpolar Wellbeing, Health and Adaptation, co-ordinated at the University of Oulu supported my research in various ways. During this study I had the opportunity to rely upon the expertise, experience and aid of several colleagues and friends whose impact on this study is acknowledged below.

My most grateful acknowledgements go to my supervisors. I want to express my special and sincere thanks to Emeritus Professor Juhani Hassi, who I consider has been a true mentor in my working career. Our co-operation with Juhani started within the field of applied cold research and development work. Juhani taught me that almost everything is achievable if one truly wants it. While working together we have achieved many magnificent results, which have felt most rewarding and motivating. Coming to work has never felt to be an obligation, which I consider is a privilege. In addition to helping me to grow and become much of the person I am today, Juhani is acknowledged for his obvious expertise in cold-related health issues. I am happy that we are continuing our fruitful collaboration and facing new challenges.

Professor Hannu Rintamäki initially introduced me to the research area of human thermoregulation and cold physiology while giving a lecture at the Department of Biology, where I was studying at that time. I was inspired by the topic and Hannu guided me through the earlier phases of my research career. I was happy to continue co-operating with Hannu some years later when engaging in my doctoral studies. Throughout our collaboration he has been highly supportive, motivating and knowledgeable. His door has always been open for me to ask all types of questions.

I want to express my sincere thanks to Professor Lawrence Palinkas from the School of Social Work at the University of Southern California, who I have been privileged to been supervised by. He has introduced me to the fascinating world of applied cognitive psychology. Larry has always given constructive comments and invaluable support, both when planning and implementing the different studies, as well as when preparing the manuscripts. Each of his visits to Oulu has given our entire research team additional mo-

tivation and ideas. Through our collaboration it has also been fascinating to get acquainted with and gain a vision of a foreign scientific community, and with the research Larry has conducted in Antarctica.

Many thanks are directed to my colleague Tiina Pääkkönen, M.Sc., for our cooperation and friendship. Together with Tiina we have spent numerous hours in the laboratory (days and nights) conducting the measurements. During these long stretches a special type of humour was developed. Conducting the studies together has also enabled us to share common questions and concerns.

I want to separately thank Emeritus Professor Juhani Leppäluoto for his co-operation in this series of studies. He has been most supportive and given feedback. His extensive knowledge on human cold physiology is acknowledged.

Several people have provided comments of this thesis. First, I want to express my sincere gratitude to the reviewers of this thesis, Dr. John W Castellani from the US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine and Professor Thomas F. Oltmanns from the Department of Psychology at Washington University for their expert comments. I also want to thank Emeritus Professor Juhani Leppäluoto, Dr. Hannele Säkkinen, Dr. Juha Oksa, Tero Mäkinen, M.Sc. and Tiina Pääkkönen, M.Sc. for their valuable and knowledgeable feedback.

I want to thank my co-authors, Professor Simo Näyhä, Dr. Dennis Reeves, Dr. Juha Korpelainen, Dr. Juha Oksa, Dr. Mika Rytkönen, Ville Kampman, M.Sc., Jari Jokelainen, M.Sc., Veli-Pekka Raatikka, M.Sc., and Reija Ruuhela. M.Sc. for their collaboration and expert knowledge. Jari Jokelainen from the Department of Public Health Sciences and General Practise is separately acknowledged for his expertise and support with the statistical questions.

My gratitude goes to the staff at the Centre for Arctic Medicine/Thule Institute. The centre has managed to employ persons who are all ambitious, knowledgeable and also very nice persons to work with. Hannele, Jaana, Mika, Simo and Sanna, many thanks to all of you for your support, the nice mementos, and our joint success. Thanks also to the Director, Dr. Arja Rautio for providing a supportive environment for finalising my studies.

Another working community I have shared is the staff working at the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Oulu. There are several friends and colleagues there that I have spent a great time with. Juha, Sirkka, Tuija, Jukka, Erja, Eeva, Maire and others, thanks for the collaboration and for the numerous lunch breaks which have been spent laughing rigorously. Warm thanks to librarian Tuula Vauhkonen, M.Sc., who purchased the literature information for me while preparing the synopsis. All my friends are also warmly acknowledged for providing additional content to my life besides work.

I want to thank my parents Erkki and Sirkka for their support and unconditional love throughout my life. Thank you for being the best parents one could ever have. Finally, my deepest gratitude goes to my family, Santeri and Tero, who have supported my work throughout these years. Santeri, you have been more than I could have ever hoped for. I can only continue to aim at being the best possible mother for you.

This work was supported by the Graduate School of Circumpolar Wellbeing, Health and Adaptation through a grant from the Finnish Ministry of Education.

Oulu, 20. April 2006

Tiina M Mäkinen

## List of abbreviations and definitions

А	adrenaline (ng·ml <sup>-1</sup> )
BP	blood pressure (mmHg)
BMR	Basal metabolic rate $(W \cdot m^{-2})$
CDT	cold detection threshold (°C)
CIVD	cold induced vasodilatation
clo	clothing insulation value (clo)
CNS	central nervous system
DBP	diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)
EMG	electromyography
HR	heart rate (beats/min)
М	metabolic heat production, metabolic rate $(W \cdot m^{-2})$
NA	noradrenaline (ng·ml <sup>-1</sup> )
Q	heat content, body (J), the product of the body mass, its average specific heat
	and the absolute mean body temperature
$Q_{\mathrm{f}}$	finger blood flow (perfusion units, PU)
RT	response time (ms)
SAD	seasonal affective disorder
S	storage of body heat (W·m <sup>-2</sup> ) (positive=increase in body heat content,
	negative=decrease in body heat content)
SBP	systolic blood pressure (mmHg)
Ta	ambient temperature (°C)
T <sub>b</sub>	mean body temperature (°C)
$T_{f}$	finger temperature (°C)
T <sub>rect</sub>	rectal temperature (°C)
T <sub>sk</sub>	mean skin temperature (°C), usually measured from 10-14 different sites in cold
TRP	transient receptor potential
TNZ	thermoneutral zone
$VO_2$	oxygen consumption (absolute: l·min <sup>-1</sup> , relative: ml·min <sup>-1</sup> ·kg <sup>-1</sup> )
VO <sub>2max</sub>	maximal oxygen consumption (absolute: l·min <sup>-1</sup> , relative: ml·min <sup>-1</sup> ·kg <sup>-1</sup> )
WDT	warm detection threshold (°C)

## List of original papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Mäkinen TM, Raatikka VP, Rytkönen M, Jokelainen J, Rintamäki H, Ruuhela R, Näyhä S & Hassi J Factors affecting outdoor exposure in winter: population-based study. Int J Biometeorol, in press.
- II Mäkinen TM, Pääkkönen T, Palinkas LA, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2004) Seasonal changes in thermal responses of urban residents to cold exposure. Comp Biochem Physiol Part A 139: 229-238.
- III Palinkas LA, Mäkinen TM, Pääkkönen T, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2005) Influence of seasonally adjusted exposure to cold and darkness on cognitive performance in urban circumpolar residents. Scand J Psychol 46: 239-246.
- IV Mäkinen TM, Palinkas LA, Reeves DL, Pääkkönen T, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2006) Effects of repeated exposures to cold on cognitive performance in humans. Physiol & Behav 87(1): 166-176
- V Mäkinen TM, Rintamäki H, Korpelainen JT, Kampman V, Pääkkönen T, Oksa J, Palinkas LA, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2005) Postural sway during single and repeated cold exposures. Aviat Space Environ Med 76(10): 947-953.

Some unpublished results will also be presented in the thesis.

## Contents

Abstract		
Acknowledgements		
List of abbreviations and definitions		
List of original papers		
Contents		
1 Introduction	15	
2 Review of the literature		
2.1 Human thermoregulation	17	
2.1.1 The thermoregulatory system	17	
2.1.2 Heat loss and production	18	
2.1.3 Components of thermal balance	20	
2.1.4 Thermoreception, thermal sensations and comfort	22	
2.2 Physical performance in cold	24	
2.3 Cognitive performance in cold	25	
2.4 Cold and health	27	
2.5 Definitions and types of human cold adaptation		
2.5.1 Definitions	28	
2.5.2 Types of cold adaptation	29	
2.6 Acclimatisation to cold	30	
2.6.1 Cold acclimatisation among indigenous people	30	
2.6.2 Polar expeditions	31	
2.6.3 Cold acclimatisation in modern societies	32	
2.7 Acclimation to cold.	33	
2.7.1 Repeated exposures to cold air	33	
2.7.2 Repeated exposures to cold water	33	
2.8 Characteristics of cold exposure in the modern society	34	
2.9 Gaps in the knowledge	35	
3 Aims of the study		
4 Material and methods		
4.1 Climatic conditions in Finland	37	

4.2 Subjects		
4.2.1 FINRISK population study assessing cold exposure (I)		
4.2.2 Experimental studies (II-V)		
4.3 Study designs		
4.3.1 FINRISK population study assessing cold exposure (I)		
4.3.2 Seasonal effects on thermal responses and cognition (II, III)		
4.3.3 Repeated cold exposures study (IV, V)	40	
4.4 Measurements	40	
4.4.1 Temperatures (II-V)	40	
4.4.2 VO <sub>2</sub> measurements (II, IV, V)	41	
4.4.3 Finger blood flow (II)	41	
4.4.4 Heart rate and blood pressure (IV)	42	
4.4.5 Thermal sensitivity (II)	42	
4.4.6 Thermal sensations and comfort (II-V)		
4.4.7 Shivering, EMG (II, V)		
4.4.8 Cognitive performance (III, IV)	43	
4.4.9 Postural control (V)	44	
4.5 Statistical analyses	45	
5 Results		
5.1 Population cold exposure to cold in winter		
5.2 Thermal responses related to cold acclimatisation and acclimation		
5.2.1 Seasonal changes in thermal responses (II)		
5.2.2 Thermal responses due to cold acclimation (IV, V)	49	
5.3 Effects of cold acclimatisation and acclimation on cognitive performance	51	
5.3.1 Effects of season, cold and light on cognition (III).	51	
5.3.2 Effects of cold acclimation on cognition (IV)		
5.4 Postural control during single and repeated exposures to cold (V)	53	
6 Discussion	55	
6.1 Cold exposure at the population level (I)		
6.2 Cold adaptation		
6.2.1 Seasonal changes in thermal responses (II)		
6.2.2 Effect of cold acclimation on thermal responses (IV, V)	60	
6.3 Performance	61	
6.3.1 Seasonal effects on cognitive performance in cold (III)	61	
6.3.2 Cognitive performance during repeated cold exposures (IV)	63	
6.3.3 Postural control during single and repeated exposures to cold (V)	65	
7 Conclusions		
References		
Appendix		
Original papers		

#### **1** Introduction

The Arctic and adjacent areas situated in the vicinity of the poles can be characterised in several ways. The Arctic may be defined as areas located near or above the Arctic or Antarctic circles (60-66 N and below 66 S), areas with permafrost, or situated beyond the tree line. Less specified definitions exist for circumpolar, northern, or high latitude environments. The circumpolar areas are defined as being located near the poles, but no strict limitations for geographic latitude are given. It could be defined as an environment having unique environmental, social, cultural and economical characteristics that are common to the area in question, but different from the surrounding environment. The circumpolar environmental conditions are characterised by considerable fluctuations in temperature and photoperiod meaning long, cold and dark winters and short, cool but bright summers. It is estimated that approximately four million people live in the Arctic (Bogoyavlenskiy & Siggner 2004) and more than 280 million in the circumpolar regions (Reed *et al.* 2001). It is evident that circumpolar inhabitants are exposed to cold in significant amounts in their everyday life.

The definition of cold depends on the perspective from which it is examined. From a physiological point of view, cold is the environmental temperature activating the human thermoregulatory system. This activation leads to physiological responses which may be either harmful or beneficial for a person's wellbeing. From a psychological perspective cold can be defined as the temperature which causes cold sensations or discomfort to an individual. Both the physiological and psychological aspects are included in the criteria of cold work, which is in occupational safety and health standards set to temperatures of 10 to 15°C (BS7915, DIN33405). On the other hand, from a behavioural perspective "cold" could be any ambient temperature below 20°C where unsafe occupational behaviour starts to increase (Ramsey et al. 1983). Finally, when viewed from a population health perspective, cold can be defined as an environmental temperature, for example 18°C (Europe) or 14°C (Finland), below which a linear increase in mortality is observed (The Eurowinter Group 1997). In Europe the number of days per year when the mean daily temperature is below this temperature is 200-360. In Finland, located between  $60-69^{\circ}$ N, the number of days when the daily mean temperature is below 0°C is between 90 to 220 days (3-7 months), depending on the region. Thus, it is reasonable to say that

cold is present to a considerable amount in the everyday life of residents living in northern Europe.

People are encountered with cold exposure during their occupational activities, while commuting to work or during their leisure time. In some occupations, like in the mining industry, construction work, agriculture, forestry or seafaring, cold exposure may be considerable, lasting for several hours at a time. Military personnel performing their service may frequently be faced with harsh environmental conditions during their winter training manoeuvres. A substantial number of people also work in cold indoor occupations, mainly in the food processing industry. Cold exposure may also be significantly present during various leisure-time activities performed outdoors. It is characteristic of outdoor cold exposure during occupational and leisure-time activities that it fluctuates markedly and can be further aggravated by wind and precipitation. Other characteristics of the wintertime are snow, ice, and a reduced amount of light, which modify the environment and the risks associated with it.

Why is it important to study the effects of cold? Cold exposures have been shown to result in various adverse consequences on human performance and health. At its mildest cooling causes unpleasant sensations and thermal discomfort. Discomfort may be a distraction factor reducing the performance of tasks requiring concentration and vigilance, and it may thus increase the risk of accidents and injuries both in occupational and leisure-time activities. Cooling of the tissues may result in decreased physical (Oksa 1998) and mental performance (Palinkas 2001). Hence, extra effort may be needed to complete the same task compared to a warm environment. This leads to lowered occupational efficiency, for example. Decreased physical performance may also itself increase the risk of accidents and injuries. Cold exposure may be a triggering factor for certain diseases (cold urticaria, Raynaud's phenomenon) (Lehmuskallio et al. 2002, Reilly & Snyder 2005) and aggravate the symptoms of prevailing chronic diseases. Recent reports have indicated that everyday cold exposure is associated with several different complaints and symptoms (Rytkönen et al. 2005). It is also well known that the coldest season is associated with increased morbidity and mortality (The Eurowinter Group 1997, Näyhä 2005). Finally, if the cooling of the body is severe enough, cold injuries (frostbites, hypothermia) may occur. Thus, it is reasonable to claim that cold exposure is a significant health risk.

As with other stressors, humans can also adapt to living in cold environmental temperatures. Thermal adaptation may partially be genotypic, a result of long-term genetic selection (Taylor 2006). However, much of the reported adaptation to cold is phenotypic, i.e. occurring rapidly and within a lifetime of the human being. In fact, the majority of thermal changes related to repeated exposures to cold occur within a couple of weeks (Rintamäki 2001). Physiological adaptation due to repeated exposures to cold is a neural process including changes mainly in circulation and endocrine organs. A substantial portion of cold adaptation is behavioural, including seeking shelter, using protective clothing or improving housing (indoor heating).

The present thesis describes how modern people are exposed to cold at the population level, and examines whether thermal acclimatisation to cold occurs among urban people. The study also assesses the functional significance of cold adaptation (acclimatisation and acclimation) on selected measures of performance.

## 2 Review of the literature

#### 2.1 Human thermoregulation

#### 2.1.1 The thermoregulatory system

In terms of thermal physiology man is a tropical mammal. For a naked resting man the thermoneutral zone (TNZ) is relatively narrow, between 25-27°C (Erikson *et al.* 1956). The TNZ indicates the range of ambient temperature at which temperature regulation is achieved without regulatory changes in metabolic heat production or evaporative heat loss. In this temperature range heat fluxes are controlled via changes in cutaneous vascular tone. Humans are also tachymetabolic homeotherms, which mean that the cyclic variation in core temperature (circadian, seasonal) is maintained within a relatively narrow range. The core temperature of the deeper areas of the body varies only to a minor extent with changes in environmental temperature. In contrast, the temperature of the skin, and especially the extremities, shows greater variation associated with environmental temperatures. The human thermoregulatory system is comprised of four main components: 1) thermoreceptors, 2) neural pathways mediating afferent and efferent information to and from the central nervous system.

The thermoreceptors are thermosensitive neural elements (nerve endings) reacting to an increase or decrease in temperature (see chapter 2.1.4.). The thermoreceptors are located in different areas of the skin, but also in the deeper parts of the body, like in the vicinity of blood vessels (carotid artery), some internal organs, skeletal muscle and in the CNS (midbrain, medulla oblongata, hypothalamus) (Hensel 1981). The sensory information from the thermoreceptors is transmitted via the spinal ganglion and the dorsal root to the spinal cord. From the dorsal horn second-order neurons, spinal thermosensitive afferents are conveyed through the lateral spinothalamic and spinocervical tracts to the thalamus, where they project to third-order neurons. These third-order neurons project to the sensory and insular cortex. Thermosensitive afferent fibres of the face are connected to second-order neurons in the trigeminal nucleus of the medulla oblongata (Hensel 1981). In the CNS the dominant region for the control of temperature regulation is the hypothalamus, and especially the preoptic area (PA) of the anterior hypothalamus. Much of the afferent information is collected in the anterior hypothalamus and reticular formation. The anterior hypothalamus controls heat loss. The posterior hypothalamus participates in the regulation of vasoconstriction and shivering (McIntyre 1980).

The control of body temperature at the CNS is complex, and it seems that thermal signals may be integrated at several levels within the spinal cord and brain. Furthermore, both inhibitory and excitatory neurons participating in temperature regulation appear to exist (Boulant 1981). There has been debate as to what is the regulated variable, temperature and/or change in temperature (Bligh 1979), body heat content (Houdas *et al.* 1972) or the rate of heat outflow (Webb *et al.* 1978). Several system models for human thermoregulation have been proposed (e.g. Stolwijk & Hardy 1966, Bligh 1979, McIntyre 1980, Werner 1980). It is not fully established how the thermal information is sensed, integrated or processed and transferred to the effector system. Furthermore, the establishment of a "set-point" that controls thermoregulation is not fully understood, either. In temperature regulation this "set-point" may change temporarily due to interference with non-thermal variables or pathological influences (e.g. starvation, hydration, fever). Adaptation to cold may also change the set-point.

The efferent signals are mediated by the thermoeffector system involving either autonomic or behavioural responses to heat and cold which modify the rates of heat production and heat loss. Examples of autonomic thermoeffector responses are sweating, thermal tachypnea, shivering, non-shivering thermogenesis and adjustments of circulatory convection (vasodilatation and vasoconstriction). Behavioural thermoregulation means any coordinated movement by an individual aimed to establish a thermal environment that represents a preferred condition for heat exchange (moving to shelter, changes in posture, clothing, housing etc.) (IUPS Thermal Glossary 2001). Behavioural responses markedly affect human thermal environments.

#### 2.1.2 Heat loss and production

*Heat loss.* Most of the heat produced by the body is transferred from the inner areas to the surface through convection (C) via the blood flow. Heat also flows through the tissues by conduction (K). This is referred to as internal heat flow.

External heat flow occurs from the skin to the environment through conduction, convection, evaporation (E) and radiation (R). A heat gradient between warm skin and a colder environment causes a heat flow from the skin to the environment. Conductive heat transfer is the net rate of heat transfer in a solid material or a non-moving gas or fluid down a thermal gradient. Conductive cooling occurs when touching cold materials, or while standing, sitting or lying on cold surfaces. Radiant heat exchange indicates the net rate of heat exchange by radiation between an organism and its environment. Its value is positive when heat is lost from the human to the environment, and negative when heat is gained. Radiative heat from the sun, or while working in the vicinity of hot objects, is a

source of heat. The net rate of heat transfer in a moving gas or fluid is called convection. As mentioned earlier, C can occur between different parts of the body or from the body surface to the environment. Heat transfer through C may develop and be amplified by thermal gradients (natural C) and by forces such as wind or body movements (forced C). The sum of heat flows or heat fluxes by R, C and K from the body to the environment is called dry heat loss or sensible heat loss. Evaporative heat loss means the heat transfer from the body to the environment by evaporation of water from the skin and the surfaces of the respiratory tract. E may be either passive (i.e. water vaporising from respiratory surfaces during normal breathing or water diffusing through the skin and vaporising at the surface) or mediated through autonomic thermoeffectors (e.g. sweating or panting).

Based on the previously described heat loss mechanisms, cooling can be classified into 1) whole-body cooling (decrease in core temperature), 2) extremity cooling (only extremities such as the head, hands and feet are cooled), 3) convective cooling (wind-chill), 4) conductive cooling (due to contact with cold materials while touching cold objects, or when standing or lying on cold surfaces) and 5) cooling of the respiratory tract (especially pronounced during heavy exercise in cold weather during oronasal breathing) (Holmér 1994).

Peripheral vasomotor responses in cold. Vasoconstriction of superficial blood vessels is an efficient means of reducing heat loss from the skin surface to the environment. The response is mediated by the autonomic nervous system. During maximal constriction the heat conduction is reduced to about one third of the maximal value (5  $W \cdot m^{-2} \cdot c^{-1}$ ) (Rintamäki et al. 2005). During vasoconstriction some blood is still allowed to flow in the more superficial parts, but most of the circulation is directed to the inner parts of the body. In the limbs, a counter current heat exchange system occurs, so that cool blood from the skin returns along the venae comitans (close to the artery), gaining heat as it returns to the body core. As a result of the increased heat loss and vasoconstriction, the skin temperature of the peripheral areas is reduced. After cooling for about 5-10 min and often at skin temperatures below 12°C a sudden vasodilation occurs. This phenomenon is called cold-induced vasodilation (CIVD). During CIVD blood flow to the extremities is increased and shows oscillatory changes, where changes in blood flow precede an increase in skin temperatures by ca. 2 min (Daanen & Ducharme 1999). Arterio-venous anastomoses are thought to play a major role in CIVD, and they are mainly located in the extremities (hands, fingers, feet) and the head region (lips, cheek, nose, ears). CIVD responses are influenced by environmental and individual factors (for a review see Daanen 2003). CIVD may temporarily increase the skin temperature of the peripheral areas and restore impaired manual performance. The rise in skin temperature is followed by a vasoconstriction and thus a cyclic change in skin temperature, the so-called 'hunting response', is observed (Lewis 1930).

Peripheral vasoconstriction in the cold increases the peripheral resistance and causes a rise of the mean arterial pressure, cardiac output, and stroke volume, with a consequent reduction in cardiac frequency (Stocks *et al.* 2004).

*Heat production.* Chemical processes such as the oxidation of carbohydrates and fat of the human body produce heat as a by-product to energy transformation and utilisation. Metabolic rate (M) indicates the rate of transformation of chemical energy into heat and mechanical work by aerobic and anaerobic metabolic processes. Most of the metabolic

energy (>80%) is released as heat and about 0 to 20% is used for mechanical work (e.g. external work). The basal metabolic rate (BMR) of a standard person is estimated at 44  $W \cdot m^{-2}$  (men) and 41  $W \cdot m^{-2}$  (women) (ISO 8996). The approximate resting metabolic rate (RMR) (sitting or standing) of a medium-sized adult person in a thermoneutral environment is 65-120 W·m<sup>-2</sup> (ISO 8996). The metabolic rate may vary, and it is related to environmental conditions, clothing and the level of activity, as well as several individual characteristics. Exercise increases heat production several fold. In heavy exercise M may be 5-10 times higher compared with RMR (ISO 8996). In cold environments the energy expenditure is increased due to the higher M, heavy winter clothing and possibly lowered physical performance efficiency. In laboratory conditions a decrease in the environmental temperature increases the energy expenditure of resting subjects. For example, a decrease from 27°C to 22°C increased energy expenditure on average by 156 kJ·°C<sup>-1</sup>, and from 22°C to 16°C on average by 116 kJ·°C<sup>-1</sup> (van Marken Lichtenbelt et al. 2001, Westerterp-Plantenga et al. 2002). Eating increases M for some hours, and the effect of a single meal is approximately 20% in excess of BMR (Karst et al. 1984, Cannon & Nedergaard 2004). The activation of the sympathetic nervous system or the pituitary-thyroid axis (Laurberg et al. 2005, Leppäluoto et al. 2005) also alters the rate of secretion of thyroid and adrenal hormones affecting M.

Cooling of the peripheral areas and other thermosensitive structures (chapter 2.1.1), stimulates the preoptic area in the hypothalamus from where efferent information via  $\alpha$ -motoneurons is mediated to the muscles, causing an increase in thermoregulatory muscle tone. If the cooling continues, the thermoregulatory muscle tone is superimposed by microvibrations. Shivering is involuntary contractile activity of skeletal muscles, not involving voluntary movements or external work, and where the individual motor units of the muscles discharge asynchronously. In mild shivering, the contractile activity of the motor units is periodical, while in more severe shivering, it is continuous. This increases M 2-5 times above basal levels. The fuel for low-intensity shivering is primarily retrieved from lipids, whereas under high intensity shivering carbohydrates become dominant (Weber & Haman 2005).

The metabolic rate increases also through non-shivering thermogenesis (NST). NST is defined as heat production due to metabolic energy transformation by processes that do not involve contractions of skeletal muscle (i.e. shivering). In NST heat is generated through special uncoupling proteins (UCP-1) situated in the brown adipose tissue (BAT). BAT is richly innervated with sympathetic nerves. UCP-1 is a mitochondrial channel protein allowing the influx of protons into mitochondria and uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation. In this process, heat is produced instead of ATP. Relatively large deposits of brown adipose tissue can be found in newborns. However, in adult persons the heat production through NST is not very significant, but may be activated if the exposure to cold is chronic (Cannon & Nedergaard 2004).

#### 2.1.3 Components of thermal balance

Thermal balance equation. The body heat balance equation is a mathematical expression that describes the net rate at which the body generates and exchanges heat with its

environment (first law of thermodynamics). The unit is watt (W), often also expressed in relation to unit area of body surface  $(W \cdot m^{-2})$ 

S=M-(W)-(E)-(C)-(K)-(R)

where S=storage of body heat, M=metabolic energy transformation=metabolic rate, W=work rate, E=evaporative heat transfer, C=convective heat transfer, K=conductive heat transfer, R=radiant heat exchange. Therefore, for achieving a thermal balance the rate of transfer of heat from the surface to the environment must equal heat production.

*Determinants.* The four basic environmental variables affecting thermal balance are the ambient temperature, radiant temperature, air movements and humidity. Combined with metabolic heat production and clothing, these variables form the fundamental factors defining human thermal environments (Fig 1.) (Parsons 2003).



#### Fig. 1. The human thermoregulatory system and main factors affecting thermal balance.

Wind is a marked factor aggravating cooling under cold environmental conditions. The windchill equation (recently revised) takes into account the combined effects of temperature and wind and predicts the cooling of the bare skin (Wind Chill Temperature Index, http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/windchill/). Radiation from the sun and different surfaces under sunny conditions is an external source of heat. In cold environments, moisture due to precipitation/snowfall may cause wetting of clothing, which decreases its insulation value and potentates cooling. Moisture may also originate from sweating, which also decreases the clothing insulation and enhances the heat loss. As the thermal

conductivity of water is approximately 25 times that of exposure to cold air, heat loss is markedly increased by immersion into water. In addition to the type of exposure (air, water, wind), the intensity as well as the duration of the environmental exposure also affects the thermal balance.

Using appropriate cold protective clothing enables activities to be performed even under very cold environmental conditions. The need for thermal insulation varies depending on the environmental conditions and the level of activity (ISOTR 11079).

Several individual factors affect human thermal balance and the consequent thermal responses. These are: gender, age, size, fitness, and the amount of subcutaneous fat (e.g. Budd *et al.* 1991, Havenith *et al.* 1995, Van Ooijen *et al.* 2001, Stocks *et al.* 2004). Interestingly, also personality affects the autonomic nervous system responses and the subsequent thermal responses (Leblanc *et al.* 2003). It was observed that extroverts react more strongly to cold discomfort by increasing their heart rate and secretion of noradrenaline (NA) (Leblanc *et al.* 2004). Health may also affect thermal balance. For example, cardiovascular, endocrinological, muscular or neural disorders may significantly affect heat production and loss. Also, the use of certain medication and drugs may predispose subjects to cold. These are mainly drugs that affect the fluid balance, vasoconstriction and/or dilation and cardiac function. For example, certain drugs and medication may affect behaviour and predispose a person to the adverse effects of cold. Finally, thermal balance is markedly affected by behaviour (e.g. seeking shelter, clothing).

#### 2.1.4 Thermoreception, thermal sensations and comfort

Thermoreceptors and thermal sensations. The thermoreceptors are free nerve endings and are either "cold" or "warm" types, according to their responses to stimuli. Recent knowledge suggests that the principal temperature sensors in the nerve endings belong to the transient receptor potential (TRP) superfamily of thermosensitive cation channels (Voets et al. 2004, Reid 2005). The thermoTRPs are activated by distinct physiological temperatures, and are involved in converting thermal information into chemical and electrical signals within the sensory nervous system. The main transduction mechanism for cooling occurs possibly via a cold- and menthol-activated ion channel (TRPM8). Stronger cooling activates another TRP channel named TRPA1 (ankyrin-like), which has been suggested to be related to cold nociception (Reid 2005). Four TRPV channels are activated by heating (TRPV1-4). It has been suggested that temperature perception, nociception and even tactile sensation may interact with each other (Green 2004). The thermoreceptors have a tonic firing pattern at comfortable skin temperatures, but respond to their specific stimuli. At constant temperatures, cold and warm receptors have characteristic temperatures for maximum static discharge frequency. For cold receptors, this ranges between 25 and 30°C, and for warm receptors between 40 and 47°C. A paradoxical discharge in cold receptors is also observed above 45°C. Both warm and cold receptors quickly become adapted when the temperature is kept constant (Kenshalo 1970, Hensel 1981).

A thermal sensation indicates how a person "feels"; it is at the same time a sensory experience and psychological phenomenon (Parsons 2003). The actual sensation is formed in the brain at the somatosensory cortex. The main determinants affecting the activation of the thermoreceptors and the subsequent thermal sensation are: 1) the number of receptors in a specific region (regional sensitivity) 2) the intensity of the stimulus, 3) adaptation temperature, 4) the rate of temperature change and 5) the size of the area stimulated (spatial summation) (Kensalo 1970, Hensel 1981). Stevens & Choo (1998) mapped the thermal sensitivities in different areas of the human body and found that it varies approximately 100-fold over the body surface. The face, especially near the mouth, is exquisitely sensitive. By comparison, the thermal sensitivity of the extremities and other regions is poor and intermediate, respectively. All body regions are more sensitive to cold than to warm. It was also found that with age, thermal sensitivity declines (Stevens & Choo 1998).

*Thermal comfort.* Thermal comfort is defined as the range of ambient temperatures within which a human in specified clothing expresses indifference to the thermal environment for an indefinite period (IUPS Glossary of terms for thermal physiology 2001). An overview of thermal comfort and determining factors is given by Parsons (2003). ISO 7730 provides assessment methods and principles for predicting thermal sensation and the degree of discomfort. In summary, thermal comfort is dependent on several environmental and individual factors. Fanger (1970) defines three conditions for a person to be in whole-body thermal comfort: 1) the body is in heat balance, 2) sweat rate is within comfort limits and 3) mean skin temperature is within comfort limits. Furthermore, absence of local discomfort is also required. Local cold discomfort may rise from draughts, thermal asymmetry or contact with cold surfaces (Parsons 2003). It should be noted that strong cold discomfort may be a significant distraction factor especially affecting tasks requiring vigilance and concentration.

The effect of thermal state on thermal sensations and comfort. Thermal sensations and comfort are related to the thermal state of the body. The influence of local sensation on overall sensation is different for different body parts. For example, cooling of the back and chest are dominant at influencing the overall sensation. Local thermal sensations may be influenced by the overall thermal state of the body (e.g. a local sensation is perceived as warm if the whole body is colder) (Zhang et al. 2004). In contrast, local cooling of hands and feet may produce a whole-body sensation of cold that is not related to the mean skin temperature. Arens et al. (2006) indicated that the overall sensations and comfort follow the warmest local sensation (head) in warm environments and the coldest (hands and feet) in cool environments. In some cases a reduction in core temperature, with a warm skin temperature, may be a sufficient stimulus for the sensation of cold (Cabanac et al. 1972). The correlation between thermal sensations, comfort and physiological responses under a steady-state environment deviates from transient conditions (Gagge et al. 1967, Zhang et al. 2004). Rapid shifts in environmental temperatures change thermal sensations and comfort before skin and core temperature are altered (Gagge et al. 1967), indicating that thermal sensations are affected by changes in heat flow. Zhang and co-workers (2004) provide models for local and overall thermal sensations and comfort for transient non-uniform thermal environments. Pellerin et al. (2004) assessed thermal comfort under heterogeneous but steady environments, and

indicated that thermal discomfort is originated by the progressive recruitment of a certain number of body parts sensed as unpleasant.

#### 2.2 Physical performance in cold

Cooling and physical performance. Physical performance is constituted of endurance (aerobic and anaerobic), muscular fitness (static and dynamic strength) and physical skills (velocity, balance, agility). Cooling of the muscle impairs most of its functional properties like power, force production and velocity (Faulkner et al. 1990, Oksa 1998). In dynamic work, the maximal force production and the power of short-term exercise decreases when muscles are cooled (Sargeant 1987, Comeau et al. 2003). Furthermore, the time to reach maximal force level and relaxation rate increases (Faulkner et al. 1990). It seems that especially fast movements are susceptible to cooling (Sargeant 1987, Oksa 1998). A dose-dependent relationship between the degree of muscle cooling (e.g. muscle temperature) and decrement in performance has been observed (Oksa et al. 1997). However, even a rapid lowering of the skin temperature (with a warm core temperature) may already decrease isokinetic maximal force production (Cheung & Sleivert 2004). The impaired power and force production of cooled muscles may be due to changes in their neuromuscular function, such as increased coactivation of muscle pairs (Oksa et al. 1995), changed reflex functioning (Oksa et al. 2000, Dewhurst et al. 2005) or altered nerve conduction velocity (Rutkove 2001).

Compared to dynamic exercise, static or isometric exercise is less susceptible to cooling. The effects of muscle cooling on static exercise vary, but it seems that a rather pronounced lowering of muscle temperature is required before performance decrements are observed. The decrement in maximal voluntary contraction ranges from 11 to 19% when the muscle temperature decreases below 27°C (for a review see Oksa 1998). Cooling can have a beneficial effect on sustained isometric exercises, slowing the rate of fatigue and increasing endurance time (Petrofsky & Lind 1980).

The abovementioned deficits in power and co-ordination related to cooling of muscles and nerves, combined with the complexity of human movements, are likely to result in impaired physical performance in the cold.

*Postural control in the cold.* Sufficient postural control is important for many daily activities. Impaired balance may result in decreased performance and injuries resulting from slipping, tripping or falling accidents. The cold environment itself, with icy surfaces and reduced amount of light during the winter, can endanger postural stability (Gao & Abeysekera 2004). Maintaining one's balance is a complex phenomenon. Postural control consists of sensory, neural and motor elements. Sensory information of the body's posture is gained through visual, somatosensory and vestibular systems. The afferent information is integrated at the spinal cord, medulla, midbrain, cerebellum and cerebral cortex. Finally, postural control is obtained by pre-programmed anticipatory postural adjustments, muscle reflexes, peripheral elasticity of muscles and tendons, as well as pre-programmed and voluntary corrections (Latash 1998).

Cold exposure may affect postural control through a variety of mechanisms. Firstly, cooling may affect the sensory systems involved in postural control. For example,

cooling of the sole and ankle mechanoreceptors increases postural sway momentarily (Magnusson *et al.* 1990, Stal *et al.* 2003). Secondly, the proprioceptors located in the muscles, tendons and joints can also be affected by cooling, resulting in changes in neuromotor functions. Thirdly, cooling may also decrease the activity of the muscle spindles, leading to suppression of tendon-reflex amplitudes, consequently affecting neuromuscular control (Oksa *et al.* 2000). Fourthly, the neural transmission of both afferent and efferent information may be slowed due to cooling of the nerves (Rutkove 2001). Furthermore, the abovementioned impaired muscular function due to cooling (Oksa 1998) could render the fine-tuning of movements when maintaining balance more difficult. Finally, shivering may alter postural control due to an increased muscle tone. When cooling progresses, the muscle tone changes into shivering and is associated with visible shaking or shuddering. Shivering could cause perturbations in fine motor control (Meigal *et al.* 1998), requiring more tuning of movements compared with a warm environment.

Although cooling changes sensory, neural and muscular functions, their effect on whole-body postural control have not been examined. Multiple environmental stressors (cold, hypoxia, and fatigue) and postural control were studied during a disabled submarine simulation, but it was not possible to distinguish the effect of cold exposure in this study (Cymerman *et al.* 2002). It is also not clear whether cold adaptation affects postural control. It can be hypothesised that dampened shivering could result in a reduced need for corrective movements. It is also possible that the less intense cold sensations and reduced discomfort due to cold adaptation could improve concentration on maintaining balance.

#### 2.3 Cognitive performance in cold

Mental performance plays a crucial role in the areas of orientation, safety, decisionmaking, work productivity and reactions to emergency situations. Cognition consists of basic learning (e.g. learning to read, write, calculate and acquiring skills) and applying knowledge (e.g. focused attention, reading, writing, problem-solving and making decisions). It is known that hot or cold environmental temperatures impair cognition. A meta-analysis suggested that cold exposure results in a greater negative effect on performance than hot exposure, and that a wet bulb globe temperature index of 10°C or less causes a 14% decrement in performance depending on exposure duration and type of task (Pilcher *et al.* 2002). Overall, cold exposure may adversely affect vigilance, concentration, memory (recognition and recall), reasoning and general intelligence (for a review see Palinkas 2001 and Hoffman 2001). The adverse effects of cold are demonstrated as an increased amount of errors and longer response times. The effects are dependent on the type of tasks (complex vs. simple), as well as the type (air or water) and duration of the cold exposures. A summary of the studies examining the effects of cold on various elements of cognition is given in Table A1 in Appendix 1.

It is well known that marked whole-body cooling associated with a reduction in core temperature by 2-4°C impairs cognitive functions, such as memory and concentration (Coleshaw *et al.* 1983, Giesbrecht *et al.* 1993, Lockhart *et al.* 2005). Eventually, if deep

body cooling progresses below the level of hypothermia  $(35^{\circ}C)$  symptoms of confusion, amnesia and decreased alertness and consciousness are seen. The results of moderate, non-hypothermic cold exposure on cognition are on the other hand inconsistent, so that decreased, unaltered or even improved cognitive performance has been observed (for a review see Palinkas 2001). The lack of consistency between these studies is probably due to differences in study designs (e.g. subject characteristics, type and duration of cold exposure, season, amount of repetitions and type of task). For example, with regard to task complexity it seems that the more complex the task, the more pronounced the adverse effects of cold (Ellis *et al.* 1985, Giesbrecht *et al.* 1993). With regard to the duration of the cold exposure, a recent study examined the effects of a long-term cold weather operation (9 days) on cognition and physical performance. It was concluded that with normal core temperature and hydration levels no serious decrements in cognitive performance were observed (Marrao *et al.* 2005). It is also possible that the rate of cooling may affect cognitive performance differentially, so that fast cooling may impair performance more than slow cooling (Ellis *et al.* 1985).

Two distinct theories on the effects of cold on cognitive performance have been proposed. The distraction hypothesis suggests that the discomfort caused by cold could consume central attention resources, causing a momentary switch of attention from the primary task and leading to impaired performance (Teichner 1958). There are some studies supporting the distraction hypothesis (e.g. Teichner 1958, Bowen 1968, Davis *et al.* 1975, Vaughan 1977). Another theory suggests that the general arousal level is increased by mild/moderate cold exposure, which initially leads to improved performance. However, with continued, prolonged or more severe cooling arousal may increase to a level where performance is degraded (Provins *et al.* 1973, Ellis 1982, Ellis *et al.* 1985, Enander 1987, Van Orden *et al.* 1990). Supporting the arousal theory, Van Orden *et al.* (1990) found shorter evoked potential latencies in the cold, suggesting faster CNS processing. Provins *et al.* (1973) measured EEG activity and found that arousal was highest when the subject was feeling most discomfort and shivering. On the other hand, FitzGibbon *et al.* (1984) indicated the EEG activity is significantly altered only when core temperature is hypothermic (33.5°C).

At present it is unclear whether season is associated with changes in cognition. Winter in high latitudes is characterised by a limited amount of daylight. The increased prevalence of depressive symptoms/negative mood states in winter was named seasonal affective disorder (SAD) by Rosenthal *et al.* (1984). The lack of light is known to trigger SAD and also to increase the occurrence of sub-clinical depressive symptoms (S-SAD) in winter. The prevalence of winter SAD ranges from 1 to 10% and winter S-SAD from 2 to 19% in North America and Europe, respectively (Mersch *et al.* 1999). Only a few studies have examined whether SAD is associated with cognition (O'Brien *et al.* 1993, Drake *et al.* 1997, Michalon *et al.* 1997), and some of these demonstrated that SAD was associated with impaired cognitive performance (O'Brien *et al.* 1993, Michalon *et al.* 1997). Mood states in general have a profound effect on information processing (Thayer 1989). Depression impairs or disrupts encoding processes that may lead to incomplete learning and memory (Weingartner *et al.* 1981).

Season could affect cognition through endocrinological changes as well. Cold exposure and a cold season are known to affect the hypothalamic pituitary-thyroid axis (Pääkkönen 2002, Leppäluoto *et al.* 2005), increasing the secretion of thyroid-stimulating

hormone (TSH), which leads to increased thyroid hormone production and clearance rates (Reed 1995) and lower levels of free thyroid hormones. It appears that the coldinduced increased clearance rates of thyroid hormones lead to decreased levels of thyroid hormones that sensitise pituitary thyroid cells. This state is called the polar  $T_3$  syndrome. These seasonal changes in thyroid hormones have been demonstrated in overwintering personnel in Antarctica (Reed et al. 1990, Reed 1995, Palinkas et al. 2001), as well as in residents living in northern Finland and employed in outdoor occupations (Leppäluoto et al. 1998, Hassi et al. 2001). The lowered levels of free thyroid hormones can lead to a state of sub-clinical hypothyroidism and to increased anxiousness and depression (Xu et al. 2003), which could impair cognition. A recent study demonstrated that anxiousness in hypothyroidism was related to attentional and executive disturbances (Constant et al. 2005). Further support for the assumption that cognitive performance is connected to season and decreased levels of thyroid hormones was provided by Reed et al. (2001). In their study, personnel overwintering in Antarctica showed a decline in cognitive performance after 11 months, but the effect was reversed with a thyroid hormone supplement. In addition, Shurtleff et al. (1994) demonstrated that administration of tyrosine significantly improved matching accuracy in cold.

The effects of cold adaptation on cognition have not been studied. Only few studies have repeated the cognitive tests in their study protocols (e.g. Thomas *et al.* 1989), but no specific emphasis was given to the effects of cold adaptation on cognitive performance. A reduction in stress and discomfort due to cold habituation may have a positive effect on cognitive performance due to reduced distraction.

#### 2.4 Cold and health

A cold climate may be a significant health risk factor (Mercer 2003, Hassi 2005). Exposure to low environmental temperatures causes a variety of effects ranging from various symptoms to cold injuries and higher mortality. Increased prevalence of coldrelated complaints and symptoms are observed when T<sub>a</sub> falls below -15°C (Rytkönen et al. 2005). Cold may be an aetiological factor for certain diseases (e.g. cold urticaria, Raynaud's phenomenon) (Hassi et al. 2005) and it may also aggravate the symptoms of prevailing chronic diseases. For example, cold environmental temperatures worsens respiratory symptoms, especially in people having a chronic respiratory disease (e.g. asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) or who are smokers (Kotaniemi et al. 2002, Kotaniemi et al. 2003). Seasonal increases in morbidity from cardiovascular and respiratory diseases have been demonstrated in many studies (e.g. Spencer et al. 1998, Danet et al. 1999, Näyhä 2002, Hajat et al. 2004). Excess winter mortality is also a wellknown phenomenon demonstrated to occur throughout the world (Gyllerup et al. 1991, Kunst et al. 1993, Eng & Mercer 1998, Kloner et al. 1999, Donaldson & Keatinge 2003). For example, an estimated 2,000-3,000 additional deaths occur annually in Finland during the cold season (Näyhä 2005). In Finland, mortality is lowest at 14°C (Näyhä 2005), and in the Mediterranean countries at about 22 to 25°C (The Eurowinter Group 1997), and a linear increase is observed below those temperatures. The seasonal variation in mortality appears to be lowest in countries with cold winters (McKee 1989). The main causes for the excess winter mortality are cardiovascular (e.g. coronary heart diseases, cerebrovascular diseases) and respiratory diseases (The Eurowinter Group 1997, Keatinge *et al.* 2000).

Cold environmental temperatures may either directly (cooling of the body) or indirectly (changed environment) increase the risk of accidents. Unsafe behaviour leading to accidents increases when the temperature deviates from 20°C (Ramsey *et al.* 1983). Cold-associated injuries are commonly strains and sprains resulting from slip and fall accidents. An association between cold temperature and an increased amount of occupational injuries in the mining industry in the USA was demonstrated by Hassi *et al.* (2000a).

A cold exposure which leads to freezing of the tissues causes frostbites (freezing injury). It is well known that the greatest prevalence of frostbites occurs during warfare (Paton 2001). However, frostbites are also common in civilian life (Hassi & Mäkinen 2000, Hassi *et al.* 2005). Several individual (e.g. peripheral vascular disease, earlier cold injury, psychiatric disorders, use of alcohol, medication, hydration level) and environmental factors (e.g. exposure duration, wind, moisture, contact with cold objects, latitude of residence) affect the frostbite risk (Rintamäki 2000, Ervasti *et al.* 2004, Castellani & O'Brien 2005). It should be noted that deep frostbites commonly cause different sequelae resulting in long-term symptoms and disability (Hassi & Mäkinen 2000). Cold may also cause non-freezing injuries (trench foot/immersion foot, hypothermia), which can in severe cases lead to peripheral nerve damage and tissue necrosis (Long *et al.* 2005). Accidental hypothermia is defined as an unintentional fall in core temperature below  $35^{\circ}$ C. It is a relatively uncommon problem affecting all age classes, but especially the elderly (Mallet 2002). An overview of its pathophysiology and treatment is given by Mallet (2002) and Giesbrecht (2000).

#### 2.5 Definitions and types of human cold adaptation

#### 2.5.1 Definitions

In the IUPS Glossary of terms for thermal physiology (2001) adaptation denotes the changes that reduce the physiological strain produced by stressful components of the total environment. This may occur within the lifetime of an organism (phenotypic) or be the result of genetic selection in a species or subspecies (genotypic). Phenotypic adaptation occurs when an organism modifies either its morphological configuration (e.g. amount of subcutaneous fat, fur thickness) or its physiological responses. Acclimatisation means the physiological or behavioural changes occurring within the lifetime of an organism that reduce the strain caused by stressful changes in the natural climate (e.g. seasonal or geographical). Acclimation means the physiological or behavioural changes occurring within an organism that reduce the strain caused by experimentally induced stressful changes in particular climatic factors. Habituation denotes the reduction of responses to, or perception of a repeated stimulation.

#### 2.5.2 Types of cold adaptation

Young (1996) has suggested that habituation is the most common form of cold adaptation and develops in response to repeated cold exposures where whole-body cooling is not substantial. It seems that when repeatedly exposed to cold, the bodily system learns that the situation is not dangerous and there is no need for strong thermoeffector responses (LeBlanc 1992). When being habituated to cold, shivering and the vasoconstrictor response are blunted. At the same time stress responses are reduced, meaning a lesser rise in blood pressure (BP) and reduced release of stress hormones in the circulation. The blunted vasoconstriction and shivering may lead to greater fall in core temperature compared with non-habituated persons.

Whole-body acclimatisation responses in humans have been classified as 1) hypothermic, 2) insulative or 3) metabolic (Bittel 1992). A mixture of the previous types, for example insulative-hypothermic or metabolic-insulative responses have also been observed. The pattern of acclimatisation depends on the type and intensity of cold exposure as well as the previously mentioned individual characteristics.

In hypothermic cold adaptation, the core temperature is allowed to decrease more pronouncedly compared with non-acclimatised people before the heat production responses (shivering) are initiated. At the same time, the thermal conductance is less compared with non-acclimatised subjects. This is due to enhanced vasoconstriction and more considerable decrease in skin temperature, which preserves heat. It can also reflect lower metabolic heat production. The metabolic type of cold acclimatisation is characterised by increased M while exposed to cold. The insulative type of cold acclimatisation is associated with an enhanced vasoconstriction and consequent insulation which prevents cooling (Bittel 1992, Young 1996).

According to Young (1996), more pronounced physiological adjustments occur when repeated exposures to cold cause significant heat loss. Insulative adaptation to cold is believed to develop when M is insufficient to prevent cooling of the core. On the other hand, the metabolic type of adaptation is suggested to prevail when core cooling can be compensated by increased heat production (Young 1996). An alternative explanation for the determinants of cold adaptation is proposed by Bittel (1987), who suggests that the type of cold adaptation is dependent on the body composition, so that lean persons develop metabolic adaptation and less fit individuals develop insulative adjustments. Bittel further suggests that the amount of heat debt can be used as an index of cold adaptation.

Altogether, the cold adaptation pattern is dependent on several environmental and individual factors. Furthermore, genetic aspects and ethnic differences cannot be ruled out, although no conclusive evidence has been presented (Taylor 2006).

#### 2.6 Acclimatisation to cold

#### 2.6.1 Cold acclimatisation among indigenous people

Various indigenous populations have offered scientists a possibility to study the effects of cold acclimatisation on human thermal responses as early as in the 1950s (for a review see Radomski & Buguet 2002). This has laid a foundation for the current understanding of how humans can adapt to severely cold climates. Common characteristics of the indigenous populations are that the houses/shelters were very primitive or lacking and the protection provided by clothing poor. In many cases the cold exposure was intermittent and periodic, such as nocturnal cold temperatures.

One of the first native groups investigated were Australian aborigines who live in a semi-desert environment with average night temperatures of 4°C. They slept semi-nude and without shelter. Compared with non-acclimatised people, the metabolic and thermal responses of the aborigines showed no increase (but a slight decrease) in M and a greater drop in  $T_{rect}$ ,  $T_{sk}$  and body temperatures. These responses suggest hypothermic insulative acclimatisation (Scholander *et al.* 1958a). The hypothermic response is beneficial in these climatic conditions since it saves energy when compared to the situation where core temperature is maintained.

Similar to the Aborigines, the Kalahari Bushmen wore little or no clothing, and were exposed to nocturnal temperatures as low as 0°C. When exposed to cold, the Bushmen did not shiver, showed only a small increase in M, and allowed their body temperature to drop (but not as low as the Aborigines). These responses suggest insulative acclimatisation to cold (Wyndham & Morrison 1958).

In contrast to the Aborigines and Bushmen, the Alacuf Indians of Tierra del Fuego were exposed to cold for 24-h being semi-nude. This population had a resting metabolic rate that was 160% higher than that of non-cold-acclimatised people. Otherwise, no major differences in rectal, body and skin temperatures were observed. This pattern of thermal responses suggests metabolic acclimatisation (Hammel *et al.* 1960).

One special group whose acclimatisation to cold has been studied are the pearl divers (AMA) from Korea. In their occupation, these women are immersed in cold water for several hours per day. It has been shown that repeated exposures to these conditions resulted in metabolic (higher BMR), insulative-hypothermic (lowered lower critical temperature) and local cold acclimatisation (vascular adaptation, lowered heat flux in limbs) (Hong 1973). It is noteworthy that the more recent use of wet suits abolishes the cold acclimatisation responses (Park *et al.* 1983, Hong *et al.* 1986).

The Arctic Indians of the Yukon and Arctic Inuit were intermittently exposed to cold while travelling, hunting and trapping. Furthermore, they were often well protected with Arctic clothing. The adaptation to cold was largely restricted to the extremities (e.g. hands) where higher skin temperatures were recorded (Irving *et al.* 1960, Elsner *et al.* 1960a, Elsner *et al.* 1960b, Hart *et al.* 1962). M was also higher compared with non-acclimatised people (but not as high as in the Alacuf Indians). The pattern of adaptation of the Inuit resembles metabolic acclimatisation. In contrast to the Inuit, the nomadic Lapps showed no increase in M but a pronounced drop in  $T_{rect}$ . This pattern, hypothermic

insulative acclimatisation, resembles the responses of the Aborigines (Andersen *et al.* 1960).

Anthropologic studies examining the BMR of indigenous, northern circumpolar populations compared with non-indigenous people have been carried out recently (Galloway *et al.* 2000, Leonard *et al.* 2002, Snodgrass *et al.* 2005). A meta-analysis combining data from several circumpolar populations from North America and Siberia implicate that indigenous populations have a higher BMR, which is suggested to be due to both functional and genetic factors (Leonard *et al.* 2002). The higher BMR is suspected to be partially related to climatic influences (i.e. cold stress).

#### 2.6.2 Polar expeditions

The cold acclimatisation responses of the personnel residing in Antarctica for defined periods have been examined in several studies (e.g. Budd & Warhaft 1966a, Budd & Warhaft 1966b, Wyndham & Loots 1969, Rivolier et al. 1988, Naidu & Sachdeva 1993). Compared with their regular daytime work, overwintering personnel of the Antarctic expeditions are often confronted with increased amounts of outdoor exposure to cold temperatures associated with field research. Ambient temperatures in Antarctica may be very low, even -70°C in the winter. The results of the different studies concerning thermal responses and cold acclimatisation have provided divergent results. The variation in the observed acclimatisation patterns can be attributed to differences in the length and severity of the exposures, individual characteristics, physical activity and the clothing used. Residents staying in Antarctica for 29 weeks and infused with NA after the expedition, demonstrated a lesser rise in BP, enhanced vasoconstriction and calorigenic response (Budd & Warhaft 1966a). On the other hand, four men working in Antarctica for 24 weeks showed an improved ability to maintain their  $T_{rect}$ , but showed no changes in shivering, skin temperatures or BP in response to a 2 h cooling test at 10°C (Budd & Warhaft 1966b). Obviously, individual characteristics also play an important role in what type of thermal responses are observed. Wyndham & Loots (1969) found that thin men developed thermal responses resembling those in men with more subcutaneous fat after the year in Antarctica (weight gain, reduced metabolic response, decreased skin temperature and increased T<sub>rect</sub>). A more recent investigation where a whole-body cooling test was performed after a 53-day Antarctic expedition resulted in a delayed onset of shivering. In addition, local acclimatisation in terms of higher finger temperatures and lowered vascular resistance was observed (Rintamäki et al. 1993). Consistent with this observation, a reduction in sympathetic activity and stress hormones has been observed (Farrace et al. 1999, Farrace et al. 2003, Harinath et al. 2005). This would support cold habituation responses. Naidu & Sachdeva (1993) measured 64 tropical men after an 8week stay in Antarctica and detected increased finger blood flow, but also a more pronounced vasoconstrictor response towards cooling. Similarly, enhanced vasoconstriction was observed in fingers of the personnel of an Australian research expedition after one year in Antarctica (Elkington 1968). Furthermore, no peripheral acclimatisation was observed in scuba divers working in Antarctica (Bridgman 1991). In summary, the divergent results from the Antarctic expeditions are explainable by the

variation in the type and amount of cold exposure resulting in different thermal responses.

Acclimatisation responses during ski expeditions/journeys have also been recorded. In these studies the environmental conditions have varied markedly. A 63-day ski journey to the North Pole resulted in general hypothermic-hypometabolic cold adaptation (lowered  $T_{rect}$  and M, and increased local skin temperatures (Bittel *et al.* 1989). A ski journey across Greenland for 21 days resulted in hypothermic (lowered  $T_{rect}$ ), insulative (decreased  $T_{sk}$ ) and isometabolic (unaltered M) acclimatisation. At the same time also local cold acclimatisation (warmer foot temperatures) was observed (Savourey *et al.* 1992). Livingstone (1976) did not observe any peripheral acclimatisation among military personnel after a 2-wk stay in the Arctic where ambient temperatures ranged between -10 and -40°C. Also a depressed, rather than enhanced CIVD response was observed after a 2-wk journey (Livingstone *et al.* 1996). The variations in results and acclimatisation patterns can be attributed to differences in the length and severity of the exposures, the physical activity and the clothing used.

#### 2.6.3 Cold acclimatisation in modern societies

Seasonal differences in thermal responses in modern populations have been reported in only a few studies. A common characteristic of these studies is that they have been mostly conducted in mild/moderately cold climates. In summary, the studies have provided different results concerning wintertime cold acclimatisation responses. A study conducted in the Netherlands, with a moderate oceanic climate (outdoor temperatures in winter above 0°C), observed an increased response in M in winter compared with summer when subjects were exposed to moderate (15°C) cold (van Ooijen *et al.* 2004). Seasonal thermal responses have also been assessed in Japanese subjects during mild cold exposure (10 to 15°C) (Lee & Tokura 1993, Li *et al.* 1994, Inoue *et al.* 1995). These studies revealed some seasonal changes in M,  $T_{rect}$  and skin temperatures, but could not demonstrate that wintertime cold acclimatisation occurred in a consistent manner.

It is possible that much of the modern cold acclimatisation is behavioural. Support for this hypothesis is found from a study where inhabitants of Northern Europe tended to protect their extremities more efficiently compared with residents from Southern Europe with a given fall in temperature (Donaldson *et al.* 2001). In this study the geographical differences in the use of hats, gloves and scarves were associated with cold-related mortality. Overall, mortality has been shown to increase to a greater extent with a given fall in temperatures in regions with warm winters, in households with low indoor heating, and among people wearing fewer clothes and being less active outdoors (The Eurowinter Group 1997). This observation would support behavioural adaptation to life in northern climates.

#### 2.7 Acclimation to cold

#### 2.7.1 Repeated exposures to cold air

An overview of the acclimation responses and their effects on thermal responses is given by Young (1996). The different acclimation protocols have employed various air temperatures and exposure durations and resulted in different cold acclimation patterns. Brief (2 h) exposures to cold air cause habituation of thermal sensations after only one or two repetitions (Leppäluoto *et al.* 2001). In general, short exposures (30 min to 1 h) to cold air result in shivering habituation (delayed onset of shivering, reduced VO<sub>2</sub> response) (Brück *et al.* 1976, Silami-Garcia & Haymes 1989, Hesslink *et al.* 1992), but in no marked changes in rectal or skin temperatures. Repeated cold exposures of longer duration (3 h to 14 days with cold exposures ranging from 5 to 15°C) result in hypothermic habituation, which involves both a reduced metabolic response towards cold exposure and lowered temperatures (Kreider *et al.* 1959, Davis 1961, Keatinge 1961, Mathew *et al.* 1981). Chronic, long-term exposure (several weeks of camping in tents with inadequate clothing and other type of protection) caused an increased M suggesting metabolic acclimation (Scholander *et al.* 1958b). However, this is one of the very few studies where metabolic acclimation has been demonstrated.

#### 2.7.2 Repeated exposures to cold water

As heat loss in water is more pronounced than in air, the exposure temperatures and durations to cause acclimation responses are different from experiments performed in cold air (Young 1996). Repeated exposure of hands and fingers to cold water results in blunted vasoconstriction and higher peripheral skin temperatures. This phenomenon has been observed among specific occupational groups like British fish filleters (Nelms & Soper 1962), Gaspé fishermen (LeBlanc *et al.* 1960, LeBlanc 1962) and North Norwegian fishermen (Krog *et al.* 1960). Similar responses were also observed during cold-water acclimation trials (Eagan 1963, Lefteriotis *et al.* 1990).

Brief (10-90 min) repeated whole-body immersions into cold water (4-21°C) cause habituation responses (Lapp & Gee 1967, Radomski & Boutelier 1982, Muza *et al.* 1988, Budd *et al.* 1993, Stocks *et al.* 2001), for example, blunted metabolism (delayed onset and decreased intensity of shivering) and vasoconstriction. Although Jansky *et al.* (1996) observed less discomfort and delayed onset and reduced intensity of shivering, they also detected lowered skin temperatures, which would suggest insulative cold acclimation. Even three brief (60 min) immersions into cold water, where the temperature was reduced from 29 to 23°C, caused a reduced metabolic response and lowered  $T_{rect}$  (Marino *et al.* 1998). Golden & Tipton (1988) compared the effects of rest *vs.* exercise on the development of cold acclimation responses in water and found that the blunted responses observed during resting exposures were masked during exercising immersions. Similarly, Stocks *et al.* (2001) found that the blunted thermogenic response applied only to resting conditions and was abolished during light exercise in the cold water. Whole-body immersion of longer durations (90 min to 3 h) into cold water (10-18°C) causes insulative or metabolic insulative acclimation (Young *et al.* 1986, Bittel 1987). Young *et al.* (1986) found lowered  $T_{rect}$  and  $T_{sk}$ , increased plasma NA concentrations and delayed onset of shivering after repeated immersion into cold water. Bittel (1987) detected similar thermal responses, but also an enhanced M after the acclimation, suggesting metabolic acclimation.

A study examining the importance of skin vs. core temperature in the development of cold acclimation due to repeated cold-water immersions (60 min exposures daily for 5 wks to 20°C) suggested that a decrease in skin temperature is sufficient for the increased vasoconstrictor response (O'Brien *et al.* 2000). However, a reduction in core temperature by ca. 0.8°C may be needed to enhance sympathetic activation during cold exposure.

#### 2.8 Characteristics of cold exposure in the modern society

Modern humans have housing which separates them from the environment and reduces the cold strain. In many northern countries central heating has enabled high indoor temperatures in homes throughout the year. However, as an exception, there are still households in Europe, for example in Ireland, England and southern Europe, where indoor temperatures may be low enough in the winter to cause cold strain and different cold-related health hazards (The Eurowinter Group 1997, Ferriman 2001). For example, in Ireland, the measured bed and living room temperatures ranged between 9 to 12°C in winter (Middleton *et al.* 2000).

Another feature of life in modern societies is that the habitual cold exposure periods are probably short in indoor work. Previous studies assessing human activity patterns have demonstrated that people spend only 6-7% of their time outdoors, and the rest of the time indoors or in vehicles (Klepeis *et al.* 2001, Leech *et al.* 2002). For indoor workers, cold exposure is probably limited to commuting to work and leisure-time activities. An exception to this are people employed in the foodstuff industry who are subjected to cold exposure indoors for several hours per day.

Cold exposure may be substantial in certain outdoor occupations, lasting for several hours per day. In these conditions, thermal strain and adverse performance effects are likely to occur (Virokannas 1996). For example, Virokannas (1996) demonstrated that during cold days, in outdoor work of low physical activity,  $T_{sk}$  dropped in 41% of the cases below the recommended limit for performance degradation. Especially peripheral cooling is common in outdoor work. For example, in military training, during typical tasks of infantry and artillery training at 0 – -29°C, finger temperatures were at or below the limits of cold sensations (ca. 12°C) for 20-69% of the total time (Rintamäki *et al.* 2004).

A factor reducing cold strain is modern cold protective clothing, enabling many activities to be carried out also under harsh environmental conditions. Due to adequate winter clothing, most often the only unprotected area of the body is the face, which is subjected to repeated daily cold exposure in winter. Facial cooling, aggravated by cold wind, may significantly affect the cardiorespiratory responses, for example increase BP markedly (Gavhed *et al.* 2000).
Finally, modern vehicles enable travelling or working in them without cold strain.

## 2.9 Gaps in the knowledge

It is not known to what degree people living in northern climates are exposed to cold at present. Studies examining time-activity patterns and physical activity have indicated that outdoor exposure may be relatively short. However, these studies were performed in mild/moderate climates and no special attention was paid to studying cold exposure *per se*; neither has it been identified which factors determine outdoor cold exposure. It could be assumed that differences in outdoor exposure can be observed between occupations. Also individual factors, such as age, gender, health and physical activity, could affect outdoor exposure in winter.

After identifying the degree of cold exposure, the next phase is to find out whether cold acclimatisation, in terms of thermal changes, occurs among urban residents of northern climates in winter. The information of urban cold acclimatisation is scanty, inconsistent and limited to mild/moderately cold climates.

Little attention has been given to examining the possible functional significance of human adaptation to cold climates. For example, the seasonal differences in cognitive performance are not well understood. These may arise from changes in temperature and the amount of light between winter and summer. It could be hypothesised that the increased prevalence of negative mood states in winter and possible changes in thermal responses and hormonal functions could cause impairment in cognition in winter.

Performing cognitive tasks requires sustained concentration and attention. The effects of non-hypothermic cold exposure on cognitive performance have yielded contradictory results, suggesting either a decline or improvement in performance. In this respect it would be important to study further cognitive performance during moderate cooling, the type of cold exposure that is likely to occur in everyday life. A special interest was to focus on determining the effects of moderate cold exposure on both simple and complex tasks as well as on the performance strategy (speed, accuracy, efficiency).

It is known that cold impairs physical performance. Especially the effects of cold exposure on dynamic and static tasks of moderate to high exercise intensity have been studied. However, many of the occupational or leisure-time activities are characterised by low physical activity, fine tuning of movements, adjustments, maintenance and tasks requiring attention or vigilance. These tasks involving low physical activity are most susceptible to cooling. One of the previously mentioned functions is postural control. An adequate postural control is especially important in winter when the environment is slippery and visibility may be limited. At present, it is not known whether body cooling affects whole-body postural control. It can be hypothesised that possible changes in sensory, neural and muscular functions may impair postural control in the cold.

Finally, it is known that repeated cold exposures cause habituation, which manifests as blunted physiological responses. It is possible that especially tasks requiring attention and concentration (e.g. cognition and postural control) could benefit from reductions in stress and discomfort related to cold habituation. It is also not known whether the performance strategy is altered due to repeated exposures to cold.

# 3 Aims of the study

One aim of this thesis was to examine to what extent people living in northern climate are exposed to cold during their daily activities, and to analyse factors affecting outdoor exposure at the population level. Another objective was to determine whether cold acclimatisation, in terms of seasonal changes in thermal responses, occurs among urban residents. It was also of interest to assess how seasonal changes in photoperiod and temperature affect cognitive performance in these residents. Finally, the aim was to determine how experimentally induced cold adaptation (acclimation), resulting in cold habituation responses, affects human performance in terms of cognitive functioning and postural control.

The specific aims of the study were as follows (the numbers in parenthesis refer to the original papers):

- 1. To analyse how ambient temperature, age, gender, occupation, place and type of residency, perceived health, physical activity and level of education affect outdoor occupational and leisure-time exposure in winter at the population level (I).
- 2. To determine whether seasonal acclimatisation to cold can be observed in thermal responses during moderate cold exposure, and examine what type of acclimatisation, if any, prevails in young urban residents. Specific interest was directed to studying the effects of season on thermal responses, thermal detection thresholds and thermal sensations (II).
- 3. To determine how moderate, non-hypothermic exposure to cold and darkness affects performance of simple and complex cognitive tasks and whether these effects vary by season (III).
- 4. To study how acute non-hypothermic cold exposure affects simple and complex cognitive tasks and whether repeated experimental cold exposures, causing cold habituation, affect cognitive performance. A specific interest was to assess possible changes in performance strategy over time due to repeated cold exposures. The study also aimed at producing a model of the effects of cold exposure and thermophysiological variables on cognitive performance (IV).
- 5. To study whether acute moderate cold exposure impairs whole-body postural control while standing. The other objective was to examine whether repeated exposure to cold, resulting in cold habituation, improves postural control (V).

# 4 Material and methods

#### 4.1 Climatic conditions in Finland

Finland's climate is influenced by the country's geographical position between the 60<sup>th</sup> and 70<sup>th</sup> northern parallels in the Eurasian continent's coastal zone, which shows characteristics of both a maritime and a continental climate. Since Finland is located in the zone of prevailing westerlies where tropical and polar air masses meet, weather types can change quite rapidly, particularly in winter. The entire country of Finland belongs to the temperate coniferous-mixed forest zone with cold, wet winters, where the mean temperature of the warmest month is no lower than 10°C and that of the coldest month no higher than -3°C, and where the rainfall is, on average, moderate in all seasons. The length of the day varies markedly between the seasons. During winter the length of the day is 5 h (south) and less than 1 h in the north. In summer the day length is 19 h (south) and 24 h (north). Winter is the longest season in Finland. If defined as the number of days when the mean daily temperature is below 0°C, winter lasts for about 100 days in southwestern Finland and 200 days in Lapland. The coldest days of winter occur at the end of January-early February. The lowest temperatures in winter are from -45°C to -50°C in Lapland and eastern Finland; from -35°C to -45°C elsewhere; and -25°C to -35°C in the islands and coastal regions (Finnish Meteorological Institute, Climate services).

In 2001, while collecting data for Study II, the average monthly temperatures in Oulu ranged from -4 to -12°C (winter measurements) and from 11 to 14°C (summer measurements). The length of daylight ranged from 6.1 to 9.1 h (winter) and from 10.6 to 16.7 h (summer). When assessing the amount of outdoor cold exposure (Study I) in 2002 (January-March), the January mean daytime temperatures ranged from -2.6°C (Helsinki in southern Finland) to -12.1°C (Lapland in northern Finland) and in April from 7.0°C (Helsinki) to 3.4°C (Lapland). The measurements for studies IV and V were conducted in August-November 2003. During this period the mean monthly temperatures in Oulu ranged between 14.3°C (August) and -0.5°C (November).

## 4.2 Subjects

#### 4.2.1 FINRISK population study assessing cold exposure (I)

In 2002 the national FINRISK study was carried out in six areas of Finland. The data were collected between January and April 2002. A random sample of 13,437 people was drawn from the national population register of each area (Helsinki/Vantaa, Turku/Loimaa, Kuopio, Oulu, North Karelia and Lapland). The sample included people aged between 25 and 64 years stratified by sex and 10-year age groups, each stratum containing 250 subjects. In addition, 500 subjects aged 65-74 years were included in Helsinki/Vantaa, Lapland and North Karelia. The stratification of the samples followed the WHO MONICA study protocol (1988) and is described in more detail by Vartiainen et al. (2000). The FINRISK study is a national survey focusing mainly on cardiovascular risk factors and their surveillance. The cold exposure sub study consisted of a 76% random sample of the FINRISK survey population (n=10,256), and a total of 6,591 persons (64%) participated. The size of the sample was determined by the fact that several sub-studies were included in the main FINRISK study, which allowed examining only a certain portion of the entire study population. The study areas were influenced by historical reasons related to the FINRISK study design, but allowed us at the same time to examine possible north-south and urban-rural differences in cold exposure. In the cold sub-study the participation rates varied depending on the study area, age and gender, ranging from 64% to 73% among men of different ages, and from 48% to 69% among women.

## 4.2.2 Experimental studies (II-V)

The laboratory studies were conducted in Oulu (65°N, 25°E) in Northern Finland. Healthy young urban men living in Oulu volunteered in the laboratory studies (II-V). The experimental protocols were approved in advance by the ethics committee of the University of Oulu and Northern Ostrobothnia Hospital District. The subjects were students/indoor workers and non-smokers. They were recruited to the experiments by announcements. All subjects underwent a medical examination, and those being hypersensitive to cold (e.g. cardiovascular or respiratory symptoms or other abnormalities) were excluded from the studies. In Study III a psychological screening was carried out to exclude subjects with SAD or possible other mental disorders. The subjects selected to the studies were reimbursed for the time spent with the studies, as well as for the incurred expenses. Before the experiments the study protocols, risks and inconvenience related to the tests were described to them, and a written consent was obtained. For assessing fitness a maximal  $VO_2$  test was performed with a bicycle ergometer (IV-V). For determining body fat percent, skin fold thickness was measured from biceps, triceps, subscapularis and suprailiaca (Durnin & Rahaman 1967). The physical characteristics of the subjects participating in the laboratory trials are described in Table 1.

Study II-III	Age (yr)	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	BMI	Body fat %	VO <sub>2max</sub> *
Summer (n=8)	$24.3\pm0.4$	$180.6 \pm 1.6$	$76.8\pm3.0$	$23.5\pm0.7$	$19.0 \pm 0.9$	-
Winter (n=7)	$24.3 \pm 0.7$	$178.9 \pm 1.3$	$69.6 \pm 1.9$	$21.8\pm0.8$	$16.7 \pm 1.0$	-
Study IV-V	22.5±1.6	180.8±7.2	72.4±7.3	22.3±1.6	17.1±1.9	53.1±6.1
(n=10)						

Table 1. Physical characteristics of the subjects in the laboratory studies. Values are represented as means±SD.

\*ml·min<sup>-1</sup>·kg<sup>-1</sup>

## 4.3 Study designs

#### 4.3.1 FINRISK population study assessing cold exposure (I)

A questionnaire assessing cold exposure duration, comfort, clothing, performance, symptoms of diseases and diagnosed diseases was mailed to the participants before attending a medical examination. For determining the duration and type of cold exposure, the following questions were asked in the questionnaire: 1) to what extent (hours per week) have you been exposed to cold during the past winter (below 10°C) while commuting to work (either walking or travelling in an open vehicle)? 2) To what extent (hours per week) have you been exposed to cold at work (exposure to cold air without a wind shelter or in unheated workspaces) during the past winter? 3) How many hours per week have you been exposed to cold during your leisure time (exposed to cold air and/or wind)? The independent variables analysed in association with cold exposure were: age, occupation, self-rated health, physical activity, level of education, area of residence. A detailed description of the classification of these variables is described in Study I. The study also assessed whether geographical variations in winter temperatures affect selfreported outdoor exposure. For this purpose, temperature data from 31 meteorological stations were included in the analyses. The mean daytime temperatures (active hours) of January (the coldest month) were used for the analyses. The temperature data from the weather stations were linked to the area of residence of each respondent. The numbers of weather stations used in the analyses in each area were as follows: Northern Karelia 3, Kuopio 4, Turku/Loimaa 3, Oulu 9, Lapland 10 and Helsinki 2.

## 4.3.2 Seasonal effects on thermal responses and cognition (II, III)

For examining seasonal effects on thermoregulation and cognitive performance (II-III) seven subjects were measured in the laboratory during the winter (January-March 2001) and eight in the summer (August-September 2001). The initial purpose was to compare the same individuals in different seasons. However, only three subjects were able to participate in the measurements in both seasons. Hence, additional subjects were

recruited for the summer measurements. The climatic conditions during the experiments are described in chapter 4.1.

The preparation of the subjects started at 12:00 and the measurements began at 14:00. During the experiment, the subjects were lightly dressed in a Finnish military underwear ensemble consisting of short-legged underpants, a t-shirt, a long-sleeved undershirt, long-legged underpants, socks and athletic shoes. The clothing insulation value (clo) of this ensemble was approximately 0.7 clo (ISO 9920).

The subjects entered the climatic chamber sized  $26 \text{ m}^2$ , where the temperature was either  $22.0 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C (mean $\pm$ SD), or  $10.0 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C. The relative humidity of the chamber was  $50 \pm 3\%$  and the air velocity was less than  $0.2 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ . The level of light was adjusted either to 500 lx (standard office room) or 0.5 lx (deep twilight). The duration of each exposure was 24 h. The order of the exposures was randomised and the time between each exposure was at least one week. All measuring equipment was located inside the climatic room.

During the 24-h exposure, the subjects were provided lunch (two times), dinner and breakfast (total energy content ca. 2,700 kcal). The same meals were provided to all participants. The subjects were allowed to drink *ad libitum*. Caffeine was prohibited during the exposure. The subjects left the climatic room only when going to the toilet. When not performing any tests, the subjects were resting. The subjects slept in sleeping bags between 23:00 and 07:00.

## 4.3.3 Repeated cold exposures study (IV, V)

During the experiment the subjects were lightly clad in shorts, socks and athletic shoes (ca. 0.1 clo). They were exposed on ten consecutive days to control  $(25.0\pm0.3^{\circ}C)$  and cold  $(10.0\pm0.3^{\circ}C)$  conditions during which different sets of performance tests were performed. The duration of the stay at control conditions was 90 min. Immediately after this the same subjects where exposed to cold for 120 min. The experiments were conducted from 10:00 to 15:00, and two subjects were measured each day. The performance tests (cognition, postural control) were conducted at the same time of the day for each subject. Cognitive performance (IV) was assessed each day under control conditions after 90 min and in cold after 100 min of exposure. For determining postural control (V) the tests were performed under control conditions on days 1, 5 and 10 and in the cold each day (Days 1-10) after 90 min of exposure.

#### 4.4 Measurements

## 4.4.1 Temperatures (II-V)

Skin temperatures were measured using either YSI (YSI 409b and 427, Yellow Springs Instrument Co., Yellow Springs, USA) (II-III) or Digi Key thermistors (NTC DC 95, type 2252OHM Digi Key, USA (IV-V). The thermistors were calibrated in a temperature bath

prior to use. The measured sites (10) were: forehead, scapula, chest, abdomen, upper arm, lower arm, back of the hand, anterior thigh, calf and dorsal side of the foot. Mean skin temperature ( $T_{sk}$ ) was calculated as an area-weighted average from these 10 sites (Hardy & DuBois 1938).

Rectal temperature ( $T_{rect}$ ) was measured 10 cm beyond the anal sphincter with an YSI401 probe (Yellow Springs Instrument Co., Yellow Springs, USA).

Skin and rectal temperature were recorded at 1-min intervals with dataloggers. Two types of loggers were used (Squirrel 1200, Grant, UK and SmartReader Plus8, ACR Systems, Canada).

Calculations:

- $\begin{array}{l} & \mbox{Mean skin temperature } (T_{sk}) \mbox{ was calculated as an area-weighted average from 10 sites of the skin according to the following formula: 0.07 \cdot (T_{forehead}) + 0.35 \cdot mean(T_{chest}, T_{scapula}, T_{abdomen}) + 0.14 \cdot mean(T_{upper arm}, T_{lower arm}) + 0.05 \cdot (T_{dorsal hand}) + 0.19 \cdot (T_{thigh}), \\ + 0.13 \cdot (T_{calf}) + 0.07 \cdot (T_{dorsal side of foot}) \mbox{ (Hardy \& DuBois 1938).} \end{array}$
- Mean body temperature (T<sub>b</sub>) was calculated by the equation:  $T_b = 0.65 \cdot T_{rect} + 0.35 \cdot T_{sk}$ .
- Body heat content (Q) was calculated as follows: specific heat of tissues (c) (3.48 kJ·kg<sup>-1</sup>.°C<sup>-1</sup>)· body mass (kg) · T<sub>b</sub> (Bittel, 1987). Heat storage (S) (i.e. the rate of decrease in heat content) was calculated by subtracting body heat content in cold from that measured in a warm environment.

## 4.4.2 VO<sub>2</sub> measurements (II, IV, V)

In Study II, oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>) was measured four times at 3.5, 7, 19.5 and 23 h from the beginning of the exposure. In Study V, VO<sub>2</sub> was assessed after being exposed to cold for 60 min. The subjects were sitting during the measurements. A portable analyser (Cortex Biophysik, MetaMax 3B, Germany) employing a breath-by-breath system was used. The duration of each measurement was 10 minutes. The average from the last five minutes, where VO<sub>2</sub> was stabilised, was used for the analyses.

#### 4.4.3 Finger blood flow (II)

Finger skin blood flow ( $Q_f$ ) was determined at 3.5, 7, 19.5 and 23.00 h after the beginning of the exposure using Laser Doppler flowmetry (Oxford Optronics, Oxford Array, UK). Laser Doppler probes were placed on the dorsal and palmar side of the middle finger. The probe was attached with adhesive material to the middle phalanx of the finger. The exact relocation of the probes for each consecutive test was ensured by marking their place. Blood flow was measured for two minutes. For the analysis, a 10-s stable portion of the data was selected.

## 4.4.4 Heart rate and blood pressure (IV)

In Study IV, heart rate (HR) was measured continuously using a Polar Sport Tester monitoring device (Polar Electro Inc., Finland). Systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) blood pressure was measured from sitting subjects immediately after completing the cognitive tests using an ambulatory blood pressure monitoring device (Meditech ABPM-04, Meditech Ltd., Hungary).

## 4.4.5 Thermal sensitivity (II)

Thermal sensory thresholds were assessed by quantitative sensory testing at 3, 6.5, 19 and 22.5 h after the beginning of the exposure using a SenseLab-Thermotest Modular Sensory Analyzer (SOMEDIC scales, Sweden), and the method of levels algorithm were used (Yarnitsky 1997). The subjects were seated and one arm was placed in a relaxed position on a table. The subject placed the thermode (stimulator) (2.5 x 5.0 cm) on their right palm (thenar eminence). The initial temperature (baseline adaptation temperature) of the thermode was 32°C and, if necessary, it was adjusted to correspond to the individual thermoneutral temperature. Following the recording of the baseline temperature, both ascending and descending temperature stimuli were applied five times at mixed (4-6 s) intervals. A 1°C/s temperature change rate was used. The subjects pressed a button when they sensed the stimulus being "colder" at their cold detection threshold (CDT), or "warmer" at their warm detection threshold (WDT) compared with the baseline temperature. The average sensory threshold temperature values were calculated from five repetitions.

## 4.4.6 Thermal sensations and comfort (II-V)

Thermal perception for the whole body, trunk, hands and feet was assessed using subjective judgment scales (ISO 10551). The thermal sensation scales ranged from 4 (extremely hot) to -4 (extremely cold). Thermal comfort was assessed using a 6-degree scale ranging from 0 (comfortable) to 5 (extremely uncomfortable).

## 4.4.7 Shivering, EMG (II, V)

Muscle tonus was assessed by measuring surface electromyographic (EMG) activity (models ME3000P8 and ME6000, Mega Electronics, Kuopio, Finland) from *M. pectoralis.* The electrodes were placed above the belly of the muscle. The distance between the recording contacts was 2 cm. Ground electrodes were attached above on inactive tissues. Raw EMG signal (sampling rate 250 Hz) was recorded continuously throughout the exposure. The signal was amplified and the signal band between 8-500 Hz was full-wave rectified and averaged (aEMG) with a 40 ms time constant. Butterworth

filtering was used in the 8-500 Hz measuring band. The common mode rejection rate of the amplifier was 110 dB.

In Study II, EMG was measured for 2 min on four occasions during the 24-h exposure (at 17:30, 21:00, 09:30, 13:00) and in Study V while assessing postural sway (after 90 min of cold exposure).

## 4.4.8 Cognitive performance (III, IV)

Cognitive performance was assessed using test batteries consisting of both complex and simple cognitive tasks. Prior to the tests the subjects were familiarised with the test batteries and were allowed to rehearse the tasks one time. In Study III, a battery of computerised cognitive performance tasks adapted from the Naval Medical Research Institute (NMRI) Performance Assessment Battery (PAB) was administered (Shrot & Thomas 1988). The battery consisted of the following tasks: matching-to-sample, simple reaction time, addition/subtraction, grammatical reasoning and repeated acquisition of response sequences. The tests are described in more detail in Study III. For each of the tasks, accuracy (% correct responses) and response times (ms) were measured.

In Study IV, the Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metric (Reeves *et al.* 1995) and a modification for Isolated and Confined Environments (ANAM-ICE) version was administered. Unlike most other computerised batteries, the ANAM uses accuracy (% correct responses) and response times (ms) to calculate the throughput (efficiency). The efficiency measure and the ANAM battery have proven to be a valid tool and sensitive to changes in neurocognitive functioning in several clinical studies. Furthermore, it is especially usable in studies requiring repeated testing, and has shown high test-retest reliability (Kabat *et al.* 2001, Levinson *et al.* 2005). In our study, the program was translated into Finnish. The test battery consisted of the following tasks: code substitution and code substitution delayed, logical reasoning, matching-to-sample, continuous performance, simple reaction time and Sternberg memory search. For each of the tasks, accuracy (% correct responses), response times (ms) and efficiency (%) were measured. A more detailed description of these tasks is provided in Study IV. Table 2 summarises which function of cognitive performance the different tests assess.

Cognitive task	Study	Assessed cognitive function	
Matching-sample	III, IV	Spatial and short-term or working memory	
Simple reaction time	III, IV	Simple visuomotor mental flexibility	
Serial addition/subtraction	III	Sustained attention	
Grammatical reasoning III		Logical reasoning	
Repeated acquisition	III	Learning capability and short-term memory	
Code substitution and code	IV	Sustained attention and concentration, verbal learning,	
substitution delayed		and numeric and symbolic facility	
Logical reasoning	IV	Abstract reasoning and verbal syntax	
Continuous performance	nuous performance IV Encoding, storage and use of working memory		
Sternberg's memory search	IV	Encoding, categorisation, response selection, execution,	
		and visual and short-term memory	

Table 2. Cognitive performance tasks administered in studies III and IV.

## 4.4.9 Postural control (V)

A novel inclinometer-based method was used in this study (Body Sway Measurement System, Crea Research, Oulu, Finland). The method measures the absolute movements of the body (both momentary and cumulative values). The method has proven an accurate and repeatable method and useful in clinical applications (Viitasalo *et al.* 2002, Korpelainen *et al.* 2005). The device consisted of a belt fastened firmly at the level of the sacrum, an inflexible measuring rod, an inclinometric module, a special joint structure located on the ground, a power unit and a PC. The measuring rod transmitted movements of the body to the detecting inclinometric module. The measurement resolution of this module was less than 0.5 mm and the high cut-off frequency was 25 Hz. The height of the measuring rod was adjusted according to the estimated centre of mass (0.55 x height).

Prior to the experiments the subjects were familiarised with the equipment and the measurement protocol. During the sway measurements the subjects stood at attention with their feet together and arms alongside the body, keeping their eyes successively open (EO) or closed (EC). In the EO test the subjects were asked to look straight ahead at a fixation point on the facing wall 4 m in front of them. The tests were performed under quiet and well-lit circumstances and repeated once. The duration of each measurement was 1 min. The recorded sway parameters were: the total path length of postural movements (at the level of 0.55 x subject's height), maximum deflection for x (side-to-side) and y (forward-backward) sway (cm), velocity (cm·sec<sup>-1</sup>) and total sway area (cm<sup>2</sup>).

#### 4.5 Statistical analyses

In Study I, medians, lower (25<sup>th</sup> percentile, IQ1) and upper (75<sup>th</sup> percentile, IQ3) quartiles for occupational and leisure-time cold exposure were calculated. A robust analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to analyse their associations with the explanatory factors (see Study I for a more detailed description). The independent variables entered into the model were: age, area of residence, type of area, occupation, self-rated health, physical activity, level of education (categorical variables) and mean daytime temperature for January (continuous variable).

In Study (II) means of skin and rectal temperatures within one exposure were compared by the repeated measures ANOVA (within-subject factor: test time), followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc tests. The effect of temperature (22°C vs. 10°C) was tested by paired samples t-tests. Seasonal differences between the two study populations were compared by independent samples t-tests. A linear regression analysis was used when analysing the effects of season, exposure, and thermoregulatory parameters on thermal sensitivity. Median values were calculated from thermal sensations. The relationship between thermal sensations, thermal sensitivity and thermoregulation were analysed by Spearman correlation tests. Separate group means were compared by the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank (more than two groups), Kendall's W or Mann-Whitney's U-test (two populations) (II-V).

In studies IV and V, the effect of exposure period on thermal parameters was tested by the repeated measures ANOVA (within-subject factor: day of exposure 1-10). Separate days were compared by simple contrasts (equivalent to paired samples t-tests). To control for multiple comparisons, the observed p-values were adjusted using the Bonferronimethod (IV). The effect of temperature (25°C versus 10°C) was tested by paired samples t-test.

In Study IV, cognitive performance measures (accuracy, response time, efficiency) were compared by temperature exposure (25°C versus 10°C) and by day of testing using the paired samples t-tests. A repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to determine if cognitive performance changed over the 10-d period. Associations between cognitive performance and physiological measures were analysed by Spearman's correlation coefficients. A pooled time series method (Ward & Leigh 1993) was used for multivariate analyses of the independent effects of test order, exposure to cold and physiological measures of thermoregulation on test accuracy, efficiency and response time of all of the cognitive tasks combined. A least squares dummy variable regression model and fixed effects was used (see paper IV for a more detailed description). Significance was set at p < 0.05 in all of the studies.

# **5** Results

#### 5.1 Population cold exposure to cold in winter

The self-reported total cold exposure time was 7 h/week, accounting for 4% of the total time. For all respondents the weekly median (Md) cold exposure time at work was 0.3 h per week (IQ1, IQ3, 0-5 h, n=3,047), and 2 h (IQ1, IQ3, 0-11 h, n=1,598) for men and 0 h (IQ1, IQ3, 0-1 h, n=1,449) for women. Among all respondents (n=6,011), the median weekly leisure-time cold exposure was 5 h (IQ1, IQ3, 3-8 h). On the average, men were exposed to cold one h more per week (Md 5 h, IQ1, IQ3, 3-10 h, n=2,747) during their leisure time than women (Md 4 h, IQ1, IQ3, 2.5-7 h, n=3,264). For all respondents (n=3,510) the median exposure time while commuting to work was 1 h per week (IQ1, IQ3, 0-3 h). While travelling to work, men were less exposed (Md 1 h, IQ1, IQ3, 0-2.5 h, n=1,556) than women (Md 1.5 h, IQ1, IQ3, 0-3 h, n=1,954). In general, men were more exposed to cold both at work and during leisure time than women (Fig 2, Study I, Tables 1 and 3).



Fig. 2. Self-reported cold exposure at work (workwomen, workmen) and during leisure time (leiswomen, leismen) in men and women. Boxplot symbols: X=1% and 99% percentiles, □=mean, -=min and max-values.

*Factors affecting cold exposure*. Among men, the duration of cold exposure at work was 8.5 h longer per week (95% CI 7.6 to 9.3) among those employed in agriculture than those employed in office work. A corresponding excess of 1.1 h per week (95% CI 0.5 to 1.6) was also observed among men working in industry or related occupations. When analysing the differences in cold exposure between the study areas, cold exposure was 4.6 h per week longer for men living in the archipelago (95% CI 2.1 to 7.1) compared with those living in urban areas. The duration of cold exposure at work increased by 1.0 h per week from the youngest age group to those aged 55-64 yrs. (95% CI 0.2 to 1.7). A lesser amount of education (elementary school) was associated with 2.3 h longer (95% CI 1.5 to 3.0) cold exposure at work compared with an academic education. Self-rated health, physical activity, study area and ambient temperature did not affect the reported amount of cold exposure at work in men. No significant differences were observed in the factors explaining occupational cold exposure for women.

While commuting to work the weekly cold exposure time tended to increase slightly by age in women and was 0.3-0.4 h longer (95% CI 0.1 to 0.7) in women aged 45-64 years compared with the youngest age group. Men and women living in the Helsinki study area spent 0.4 to 1.1 h more time commuting to work compared with the other areas (other areas 95% CI 0 to -2.3 h). Similarly, people living in rural or remote areas spent 0.4-0.8 less time (95% CI for men and women 0.1 to 1.1 h) exposed to cold while commuting to work than in urban areas. Male and female students were more exposed to cold (0.8-0.9 h) (men 95% CI 0.4 to 1.2, women 95% CI 0.5 to 1.3) when travelling to

work compared with office workers. Furthermore, those respondents who were exercising to an average amount were more (0.2-0.4 h) (men 95% CI 0.0 to 0.7, women 95% CI 0.0 to 0.5) exposed to cold than those having no exercise at all, while perceived health had no effect on weekly exposure times.

During leisure time, ageing was associated with 0.4-0.6 h (95% CI 0.0 to -1.2) less cold exposure among women aged 45-74 years and 0.8 h (95% CI 0.0 to -1.7) in men aged 65-74 compared with the youngest age group (Study I, Table 3). Male pensioners and unemployed men showed 2-3 h longer exposure times per week (pensioners 95% CI 1.6 to 3.0, unemployed 95% CI 2.0 to 3.6) during their leisure time than men engaged in office work. Also men practising at least some exercise were 2.5-2.7 h more exposed to cold during their leisure time (95% CI 1.3 to 4.0). Those men reporting at least average health were 2.3-2.4 h more exposed to cold (95% CI 0.0 to 4.7). Men having a vocational or college education were also 0.7-0.9 h (95% CI 0.0 to 1.8) more exposed to cold per week compared with those with academic education. Area or type of area of residence or ambient temperature did not affect the weekly exposure time in men. Among women, pensioners, unemployed, housewives and those who were physically active showed 1.5-2.7 h longer exposure times per week compared with indoor workers or physically inactive women. Area, type of area, perceived health, education and temperature did not explain cold exposure during the leisure time in women (Study I, Table 3).

#### 5.2 Thermal responses related to cold acclimatisation and acclimation

## 5.2.1 Seasonal changes in thermal responses (II)

When exposed to cold (10°C) for 24 h,  $T_{sk}$  decreased to about 28-29°C (Study II, Fig. 1), and the average decrease of the body heat content (S) was 344 kJ (winter) and 362 kJ (summer).  $T_{sk}$  decreased 0.7°C more in the winter than in summer but remained at a significantly higher level (p<0.05). Furthermore, finger temperatures ( $T_f$ ) decreased on average more in winter (11.8°C) (p<0.05) compared with summer (8.4°C), indicating enhanced vasoconstriction in hands. This is supported by the observation that blood flow in fingers ( $Q_f$ ) was also significantly lower in winter (94% decrease in cold, p<0.05) compared with summer (71% decrease in cold). When examining the skin temperature of the individual sites at 22°C, 11 out of 12 sites were warmer in the winter. However, at 10°C, only 4 out of 12 sites, located mainly on the trunk (chest, stomach, scapula, calf), were warmer in winter compared with summer. There were no seasonal differences in  $T_{rect}$  during the daytime cold exposure. Seasonal differences in nocturnal values of  $T_{rect}$  were observed only at 22°C, where it was significantly lower in winter (p<0.05) compared with summer at specific time points (04:00 and 06:00). M increased more in winter (14%) compared with summer (7%) (p<0.05).

When assessing thermal detection thresholds, a more considerable drop in temperature of the thermode was required in winter (4.3°C) than in summer, (2.9°C) (p<0.05) before the subjects sensed it as cold (Study II, Table 3). This change in CDT was associated with the lower skin temperatures measured in hands and fingers in the winter. There were no

seasonal differences in the WDT. According to the reported thermal sensations (general and local), the subjects were likely to report feeling slightly colder (general and local thermal sensation) (p<0.05) in the winter than in the summer (Study II, Table 4).

#### 5.2.2 Thermal responses due to cold acclimation (IV, V)

Repeated exposure to cold for 10 days resulted in different changes in thermal responses (Fig. 3, unpublished results). On average, the cold exposure (2 h at 10°C) decreased  $T_{sk}$  by 6-6.4°C compared with 25°C (p<0.05-0.01), and the decrease of the body heat content ranged between 566-630 kJ during the 10-d exposure.  $T_{rect}$  decreased on average 0.3-0.4°C (p<0.05) and  $T_f$  by 15.3-16.1°C (p<0.001) after being cold-exposed for 120 min.

When examining the changes in thermal responses over the 10-d period  $T_{sk}$  was significantly higher on Day 10 compared with Day 1 after 30 min (0.8°C higher, p<0.05) and 120 min of cold exposure (0.6°C higher, p<0.05). Similarly,  $T_{fing}$  were higher on Day 10 compared with Day 1 after 30 min (2.0°C higher, NS) and 120 min of cold exposure (1.9°C higher, NS). Cold increased M on average by 13-18%. VO<sub>2</sub> was significantly lower in the cold on Day 10 compared with Day 1 (p<0.05). Cold increased serum NA concentrations on average by 48%, but the rise was significantly less (p<0.05) on Day 10 compared with Day 1. Adrenaline (A) concentrations remained unchanged by cold and during the 10-d period. Less intense cold sensations were experienced by the end of the acclimation period (Day 10) compared with Day 1. The general thermal sensations after 5 min of cold exposure were "cool" (Day 1) and "slightly cool" (Day 10). The sensations after 120 min were "cold" (Day 1) and "cool" (Day 10).



Fig. 3.  $T_{fing}$ ,  $T_{sk}$ , SBP, general thermal sensations, VO<sub>2</sub> and NA responses during the 10-d cold acclimation period (mean±SE). General thermal sensation: 1=slightly warm, 0=neutral, -1=slightly cool, -2=cool, -3=cold, -4=very cold.

# 5.3 Effects of cold acclimatisation and acclimation on cognitive performance

#### 5.3.1 Effects of season, cold and light on cognition (III)

A 24-h exposure to both cold and dim light was associated with increased accuracy on three complex cognitive tasks (grammatical reasoning, matching to sample and repeated acquisition) and a decreased accuracy on two simple tasks (addition/subtraction and simple reaction time) (p<0.01-0.001, Study III, Table 3). All cognitive tasks were performed faster in the cold and dim conditions, as judged by the shorter RTs on both simple and complex cognitive tasks (Study III, Table 1). The independent effect of cold resulted in improved accuracy in the grammatical reasoning and repeated acquisition task (p<0.01-0.001, Table 1) and decreased accuracy in the simple reaction time task (p<0.001). Response times were significantly shorter in the cold in 4 tasks (Table 1). A change in the level of light alone did not affect accuracy, but it caused a reduction in RTs in the grammatical reasoning (p<0.05) and matching to sample (p<0.05) tasks.

Seasonal differences were observed in only two tasks, where the accuracy of the addition subtraction task was higher in summer than winter (p<0.05). On the other hand, the repeated acquisition task was performed more accurately in winter than in summer (p<0.01) (Study III, Table 2). However, when season was examined as an independent predictor no effects on accuracy were observed, but RTs were longer in the summer in the grammatical reasoning (p<0.05) and simple reaction time tasks (p<0.001) (Table 3).

 $T_{sk}$  was inversely associated with accuracy on the grammatical reasoning (r=-0.2, p<0.01), matching to sample (r=-0.15, p<0.05) and repeated acquisition tasks (r=-0.19, p<0.05). Furthermore, a decrease in  $T_{sk}$  was associated with shorter RTs in all cognitive tasks (r=0.18-0.38, p<0.05-0.001). Cognitive performance was unrelated to changes in  $T_{rect}$ . An increase in cold-related discomfort was positively associated with response times on the grammatical reasoning task (r=0.15, p<0.05). Table 3 (Study III, Table 3) summarises the effects of time of day, test sequence, condition (temperature, light) and season on the different cognitive tasks.

Table 3. The independent effects of test time, test sequence (no. of tests performed), condition (warm, cold, bright and dim light) and season (winter, summer) on the performance accuracy and response times of different cognitive tasks (modified from Study III, Table 3).

Factor	Grammatical	Matching to	Addition/	Simple	Repeated
	Reasoning	Sample	Subtraction	Reaction time	Acquisition
Accuracy					
Time of day	Higher accuracy	Higher accuracy	No effect	No effect	Higher accuracy
Test sequence	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect
Condition <sup>a</sup>	Higher accuracy	Higher accuracy	Lower accuracy	Lower accuracy	Higher accuracy
Season <sup>b</sup>	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect
Response time					
Time of day	Shorter RT	No effect	Shorter RT	Shorter RT	No effect
Test sequence	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect
Condition <sup>a</sup>	Shorter RT	Shorter RT	Shorter RT	Shorter RT	Shorter RT
Season <sup>b</sup>	Longer RT in	No effect	No effect	Longer RT in	No effect
	summer			summer	

a) condition 1=22°C, 2=10°C bright light, 3=10°C dim light, b) 1=winter, 2=summer.

## 5.3.2 Effects of cold acclimation on cognition (IV)

When all the administered cognitive tasks were combined in a regression model, cold exposure was associated with improved accuracy, but at the same time longer RTs, leading to reduced efficiency. However, when examining the effects of cold on individual tests both positive (reduced response time), negative (reduced accuracy and longer RTs) and mixed (increased accuracy but longer response time, or reduced accuracy but also shorter response time) effects were observed (Study IV, Tables 2 and 5). The 10-d exposure period resulted in significantly improved efficiency and shorter RTs over time in both warm and cold conditions. At 25°C efficiency improved in five and at 10°C in four tasks. RTs were significantly shorter over time in one task (continuous performance) at 25°C and six tasks at 10°C. Accuracy improved over the 10-d period in the cold in four tasks (code substitution, code substitution delayed, logical reasoning, Sternberg 6) (p<0.05-0.01). With a few exceptions, there were no marked differences in the magnitude of changes occurring during the 10-d period between warm and cold conditions.

Of the thermal parameters, a reduction in  $T_{rect}$  was associated with shorter RTs in six out of seven tasks (r=0.24-0.32, p<0.001) and improved efficiency in all seven tasks (r=0.20-0.30, p<0.01-0.001) (Study IV, Table 4). Decreased  $T_{sk}$  and  $T_f$  were associated with longer RTs (r=-0.35- -0.41, p<0.01-0.001) and reduced efficiency (r=0.22-0.25, p<0.01-0.001) in the simple reaction time task. In the regression model a low  $T_{rect}$  predicted an increased efficiency (p<0.001) and shorter RTs (p<0.001) in the Simple RT task (Study IV, Table 5). Furthermore, an increased DBP predicted reduced efficiency (p<0.001) and increased RT (p<0.01), and an increased HR predicted improved efficiency (p<0.01) and reduced RTs (p<0.05) on this task as well. Repetition of the cognitive tests

(test order) improved efficiency (p<0.001) and shortened RTs in complex cognitive tasks (p<0.001). Exposure to cold was a significant independent predictor of increased accuracy (p<0.01) but longer RTs (p<0.001) and decreased efficiency (p<0.001). In complex tasks a lowered  $T_{rect}$  predicted improved efficiency (p<0.001) and shorter RTs (p<0.001). Furthermore, an increased DBP and lowered HR predicted decreased accuracy (p<0.001) and shorter RTs (p<0.001) and shorter RTs (p<0.001) and shorter RTs (p<0.001). Thermal sensation of cold in the hands was a significant independent predictor of decreased accuracy (p<0.05) and shorter response time (p<0.05) (Table 4).

Table 4. Results of regression analysis of cognitive performance accuracy, efficiency and RT in simple and complex cognitive tasks (Study IV, Table 5). The Simple Reaction timetask has 100% accuracy. Hence, accuracy of this task was not included in the regression model.

Parameter	Accuracy	Efficiency	Response time (RT)
Simple task*			
Number of tests	-	No effect	No effect
Cold exposure	-	No effect	No effect
Cold sensations in hands	-	No effect	No effect
Decrease in Trect	-	Increased efficiency	Shorter RT
Increase in DBP	-	Lower efficiency	Longer RT
Lowering of HR	-	Lower efficiency	Longer RT
Increase in O2 intake	-	No effect	No effect
Complex task**			
Number of tests	No effect	Increased efficiency	Shorter RT
Cold exposure	Higher accuracy	Lower efficiency	Longer RT
Cold sensations in hands	Lower accuracy	No effect	Shorter RT
Decrease in T <sub>rect</sub>	No effect	Increased efficiency	Shorter RT
Increase in DBP	Lower accuracy	No effect	Shorter RT
Lowering of HR	Lower accuracy	No effect	Shorter RT
Increase in O2 intake	No effect	No effect	No effect

\*simple reaction time, \*\*=code substitution, code-substitution delayed, logical reasoning, continuous performance, matching to sample, Sternberg 6

## 5.4 Postural control during single and repeated exposures to cold (V)

Postural sway was markedly increased by exposure to cold, as indicated by the significantly higher path length, area, forward-backward movement and velocity (p<0.05-0.01). Side-to-side-movement was not affected by cold exposure. For example, at 10°C the total path length increased by 62-87% (eyes open, EO) and 51-65% (eyes closed, EC) (Fig. 4) compared with 25°C (Study V, Table 1). Closing the eyes increased path length, sway area and velocity of the movement significantly compared with EO. Furthermore, when the subjects closed their eyes path length, velocity and total area remained significantly higher at 10°C compared with 25°C (p<0.05). This effect was abolished

over the 10-day exposure period, and no significant differences between 10°C and 25°C in any of the sway parameters were observed by Day 10 with EC.

When examining the effect of repeated exposures at 10°C, we observed that forwardbackward, side-to-side movements and the total area of sway decreased significantly over the 10-d period (Study V, Fig.1). The decrease in sway was 10-40%, both at 25°C and 10°C and tended to stabilise most often from day 4-5 onward. The reduction in sway over the exposure period at 10°C was not so clear at EC. When comparing the change in sway between the two temperature conditions (25°C vs. 10°C) on Days 1, 5 and 10, no significant differences were observed.



Fig. 4. (Left panel) Path length (cm) at 25°C and 10°C during days 1, 5 and 10. (Right panel) Sway area (cm<sup>2</sup>) during the 10-d exposure. Values represent mean±SE (n=10).

# **6** Discussion

#### 6.1 Cold exposure at the population level (I)

The present study is the first population-based study covering a broad age range to describe the duration and factors affecting outdoor exposure to cold. It was assumed that outdoor exposure in winter is affected by occupational, individual and behavioural factors.

The study demonstrated that most of the cold exposure occurs in certain outdoor occupations and during leisure time, where cold exposure may be significant. However, Finns are on average exposed to cold for relatively short periods. The self-reported total outdoor exposure time during winter, including both occupational and leisure-time exposure, was on average 7 h per week (60 min per day), accounting for 4% of the total weekly time. This corresponds relatively well with studies assessing human activity patterns, most often based on 24 h-diary recalls, which have demonstrated that people spend 6-7% of their time outdoors and the rest of the time indoors or in vehicles (Klepeis *et al.* 2001, Leech *et al.* 2002). Most of the exposure to cold occurred during leisure time (71%); occupational exposure to cold accounted for 4%, and time spent commuting to work for 14% of the total cold exposure. The self-reported cold exposure in the present study is consistent with population surveys where the total amount of cold exposure among people aged 50-74 years and residing in Europe or Russia ranges between ca. 30-80 min per day (Donaldson *et al.* 1998a, Donaldson *et al.* 1998b, Donaldson *et al.* 2001).

The self-reported average leisure-time cold exposure (34-43 min per day) corresponds relatively well with national and international surveys where ca. 30-60 min per day is used for leisure-time activities (Pivarnik *et al.* 2003, Statistics Finland 2005). In the present study, men reported being more exposed to cold during leisure time than women, which is also consistent with the results of the national survey on time use (Statistics Finland 2005). This phenomenon may partially be explained by cultural differences and preferences. Factors associated with more cold exposure during leisure time in men and women were most clearly related to reported occupation and the level of physical activity. Ageing was associated with less cold exposure during the leisure time in women, and within the oldest age group (65-74 years) of men. This could indicate a tendency to avoid

cold exposure due to increased prevalence of diseases, poorer health or physical fitness related to ageing. For example, an increased prevalence of cold-related symptoms and complaints has been observed with advancing age (Hassi et al. 2000b, Rytkönen et al. 2005). Due to co-morbidity elderly people often report being more "weather sensitive" (Von Mackensen et al. 2005), which could also affect their decision to be engaged in outdoor activities. Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease decreased the overall time spent outdoors (Donaldson et al. 2005). In the present study, of the different occupational groups housewives, pensioners (aged over 63 years) and unemployed persons spent significantly more time outdoors engaged in leisure-time activities. Furthermore, persons exercising at least to some degree were more exposed to cold. Among men, improved health and college-level or vocational education was also associated with more leisure-time cold exposure. Interestingly, men employed in occupations where the amount of cold exposure is significant also spent more time outdoors during their leisure time. The fact that no association between self-rated health and leisure-time cold exposure in women was detected could partially be explained by selection, which may have excluded those women having the poorest health from the study.

Of men, 57% reported being exposed to cold at work for more than 10 hours per week. Most of the occupational cold exposure was reported to occur among agriculture, forestry, mining industry, factory work, construction work and related occupations. On average, women were exposed to cold at work 3-4 hours less per week than men, and many of them (20%) reported being exposed to cold less than 1 h per week. The average occupational exposure to cold of the entire study population was 0.3 h per week, which indicates that the majority of Finns are employed in indoor occupations. When examining the independent factors explaining occupational cold exposure, most of it occurred among working-aged men (>25 years) who had elementary school or vocational exposed to cold than those living in urban areas, probably because occupations such as fishing and agriculture are concentrated in these areas. Self-rated health did not explain the amount of occupational cold exposure in men, which could be due to the fact that, in general, healthier workers are selected to occupations that are physically more demanding and where most of the cold exposure occurs.

Women reported being more exposed to cold while commuting to work. This may be related to socio-cultural aspects and values, so that women tend to prefer walking, cycling or taking the bus to work. Factors associated with a higher amount of cold exposure while travelling to work were being working-aged, living in urban areas, being a student and being physically active. On average, the self-reported amount of cold exposure while commuting to work was short, only 1 h per week, meaning 12 minutes/day.

The measured temperatures were not clearly associated with self-reported outdoor cold exposure. The inability to detect such an association is not very surprising, as a previous study conducted in Siberia demonstrated that there is a reduction in outdoor excursions only when the temperature falls below -20°C (Donaldson et al. 1998a). It should also be noted that the self-reports represent average exposure times. Furthermore, a marked variation in cold temperatures occurred during the study period.

With regard to possible health effects, our study demonstrates that cold exposure is significant in certain outdoor occupations and during leisure time. A more considerable amount of cold exposure is associated with increased prevalence of cold-related symptoms (Rytkönen et al. 2005) and morbidity in the winter (e.g. Spencer et al. 1998, Danet et al. 1999, Näyhä 2002, Hajat et al. 2004) and could also result in cold injuries (Hassi & Mäkinen 2000). Especially persons suffering from cardiovascular or respiratory diseases are more susceptible to adverse cold effects. It is also well known that cardiovascular and respiratory diseases are the main cause for excess winter mortality, which means 2,000-3,000 additional deaths during the cold season in Finland (Näyhä 2005). This affects the elderly population in particular, but also ca. 20% of those of working age (Näyhä 2005). Lower socioeconomic status may partially protect workingaged men from adverse cold effects (Donaldson & Keatinge 2003), but not retired age groups or elderly women. A recent study suggests that especially elderly women are vulnerable to the adverse effects of cold (Wilkinson et al. 2004). However, it should be noted that in Finland the increase in mortality with a decrease in temperature is lower than in countries in southern parts of Europe (The Eurowinter group 1997), which can partially be explained by behavioural factors, such as better protection of extremities (Donaldson et al. 2001).

The present population study did not include younger age groups (adolescents). A previous study conducted among school children aged 14-18 years indicated that 37% of boys and 23% of girls spend more than 12 h per week outdoors during winter (Juopperi *et al.* 2003). It should be noted that in the same study 18.3% of the boys and 11.3% of the girls reported having had a blister-grade frostbite during their lifetime. This indicates that regular exposure to cold, and especially physical exercise in winter, is associated with adverse health effects. Furthermore, one occupational group not included in the study was military personnel. The duration of outdoor cold exposure in winter during military training can be significant, equalling or exceeding that of other cold outdoor occupations. In these conditions, adverse performance effects (Rintamäki *et al.* 2004) and cold injuries (Hassi *et al.* 2005) are common.

One limitation of the study is that the self-reported outdoor exposure was assessed in a retrospective manner reflecting the average situation of the past winter. Compared with 24-h recalls, for example, this may have caused some inaccuracies to estimates of the duration of cold exposure. However, our analyses did not detect any correlation between the time of data collection and reported cold exposure.

With regard to cold exposure, special attention should be given to the prevention of possible adverse cold effects occurring in outdoor cold occupations and leisure time, where the amount of cold exposure is significant. Furthermore, cold risk management measures should be focused on special population groups, such as the elderly, who are at higher risk for the adverse effects of cold exposure. Descriptive information of population-based cold exposure can be utilised when developing probabilistic population exposure models. Further studies are needed to combine information on cold exposure with health measures.

## 6.2 Cold adaptation

#### 6.2.1 Seasonal changes in thermal responses (II)

The hypothesis of the study was that, because of usually short cold exposure periods in winter (Study I), causing only superficial and peripheral cooling, habituation with dampened responses to cold would occur. In the present study seasonal differences in skin temperature, M, circulation and thermal sensitivity were observed. However, these responses did not resemble the blunted responses associated with cold habituation caused by repeated exposures to cold air or water, such as dampened thermal sensations, blunted vasoconstriction and M (Brown & Page 1952, Radomski & Boutelier 1982, Leftheriotis *et al.* 1990, Hesslink *et al.* 1992, Castellani *et al.* 1998). Instead, there were signs of enhanced responses especially in the peripheral areas of the body, indicating improved preservation of body heat. In addition, the present study showed that the diurnal thermal responses were similar in both seasons. Consistent with a cold-water immersion study (Castellani *et al.* 1999), no differences were observed in thermal responses (except for  $T_{rect}$ ) during the daytime.

The main observations were that skin temperatures decreased more pronouncedly in most measured sites in winter than in summer. At the same time, blood flow in the fingers was more reduced in winter, indicating enhanced vasoconstriction. The observed peripheral vasoconstriction is in accordance with some studies where lowered finger temperatures were observed after an Arctic exercise (Livingstone 1976) and in urban subjects in winter (Hisdal & Reinertsen 1998). However, in general acclimatisation of the peripheral areas of the body is associated with higher skin temperatures, improved circulation and an earlier onset of CIVD (Brown & Page 1952, Krog et al. 1960, Nelms & Soper 1962, Leftheriotis et al. 1990, Purkayastha et al. 1992, Rintamäki et al. 1993, Daanen 2003). The overall enhanced cooling of the skin observed in the present study could indicate preservation of heat by vasoconstriction, resembling an insulative type of acclimatisation. This type of response could develop due to repeated, relatively intense cold exposures, which mainly affect the face and extremities. Exposure of the face alone to cold, possibly combined with wind, is a marked stimulus for an increased BP and a strong sympathetic response (Gavhed et al. 2000). Bittel (1987) suggests that a lowering of heat debt in cold can be considered an index of cold adaptation. However, this type of response is usually demonstrated in association with repeated cold exposures causing marked whole-body cooling (Young et al. 1986, Bittel 1987, Budd et al. 1993). Considerable whole-body cooling is not likely to occur in these urban subjects, where cold exposure occurs for relatively short periods, mainly while commuting to work or during leisure-time activities as shown in Study I. Another explanation is that the more considerable decrease in skin temperature is a sign of an aggravated reaction towards acute cold exposure, indicating lack of habituation or other type of cold adaptation. In the present study also a significantly higher M in winter compared with summer in response to the cold exposure was observed. This result is consistent with the study by Van Ooijen et al. (2004) who exposed subjects living in the Netherlands to mild  $(15^{\circ}C)$  cold exposure during winter and summer. They suggested that the increased M was due to metabolic

acclimatisation. However, most often this type of acclimatisation is observed due to cold exposures causing repeated substantial whole-body cooling (Scholander *et al.* 1958b, Hammel *et al.* 1960). Rather, the increased M in the present study may reflect an aggravated response to the more pronounced cooling of the skin in the population measured in winter.

The present study also examined thermal sensitivity, sensations and comfort. The perception of thermal stimuli is fundamental for judging thermal comfort or discomfort. Cold sensitivity in the hand was impaired in the cold environment, and a temperature drop of 3-4°C from the baseline temperature was needed before the subjects sensed the cold stimulus. This decreased cold discrimination was more pronounced in winter than in the summer and was correlated with the lower hand temperatures (1.8°C) measured in winter. It is possible that this magnitude of cooling, which is below the maximum static discharge frequency for cold receptors, may increase the threshold for discriminating incremental changes in temperature (Kenshalo 1970, Johnson *et al.* 1973, Hensel 1980). Cold exposure or season did not affect warm sensitivity. Overall, subjects measured in winter reported slightly more intense cold sensations and subsequent discomfort than they did in the summer. The observed differences in thermal sensations were minor and do not have much practical relevance. However, the result further suggests that no habituation to cold in thermal sensations occurred in the winter, and is in agreement with the observed thermal responses.

Only a few studies have examined seasonal difference in thermal responses in urban populations. In summary, these have shown divergent results and resulted in different interpretations with regard to whether cold acclimatisation, and what type of it, occurs in urban residents. Davis and Johnston (1961) measured cold responses at 14°C of indoor workers in Kentucky, USA at 1-month intervals in summer and winter. They demonstrated a gradually decreasing VO<sub>2</sub> and shivering from winter to summer, but unaltered skin or rectal temperatures. LeBlanc et al. (1975) determined autonomic nervous system responses in Canadian mailmen and found a diminished vasopressor response at the end of winter suggesting cold habituation. The previously mentioned study by Van Ooijen et al. (2004) observed an increased response in M but unaltered skin temperature in winter compared with summer when subjects were exposed to 15°C. On the other hand, Inoue *et al.* (1995) did not detect seasonal differences in M or  $T_{sk}$  in young Japanese subjects exposed to mild (17°C) cold. However, older subjects had a significantly higher M in summer and autumn compared with winter and spring. Lee et al. (1993) detected lower skin temperatures and higher M in response to cold in subjects measured during summer compared with winter. A hypothermic response (lowered T<sub>rect</sub>) towards mild cold (25°C and 15°C) was detected by Li et al. (1994) in subjects with uncovered legs when the season gradually became colder. Hisdal & Reinertsen (1998) exposed urban citizens living in Norway (63°N) to local cold (cooling of hand in 7.3°C water). Consistent with our study, they did not observe local habituation. Rather, the CIVD response in fingers was delayed and the magnitude of the response lowered in winter compared with summer.

Altogether, a direct comparison of the results of these studies is difficult due to the different cold exposure protocols. Marked individual differences in the types of responses (e.g. insulative or metabolic) are also often observed (Van Ooijen *et al.* 2004), which are probably related to both the individual's physical characteristics (Van Marken Lichtenbelt

*et al.* 2002), but also to the type and amount of cold exposure the person has been exposed to in his/her habitual activities. Climatic influences (severity of winter) could also affect the resultant cold acclimatisation pattern. Compared with the other studies, our research was conducted in a high latitude environment (65 °N) characterised by cold environmental conditions in winter; however, no responses characteristic of cold habituation were observed.

The lack of typical cold habituation responses in winter may be explained by behavioural factors. Urban residents are able to minimise their cold strain by several means. The use of adequate winter clothing prevents marked cooling and adverse cold effects. Especially northern inhabitants tend to protect their extremities more efficiently than people living in warmer regions with a given fall in temperature (Donaldson *et al.* 2001). Other factors minimising the cold strain are the relatively short cold exposure periods experienced only while commuting to work, or during leisure-time activities as was shown in Study I. In addition, constantly high indoor temperatures in homes and office buildings, with an average of 21°C in northern Finland during winter (The Eurowinter group, 1997), decrease the cold strain. It is therefore possible that repetitive marked cooling of the skin occurs rarely in winter. These results are representative for people employed in indoor occupations, and it is probable that the cold acclimatisation profile is different in outdoor occupations, where repeated exposures to cold occur for several hours a day. In these conditions peripheral cooling is common (Virokannas 1996), and whole-body cooling may also occur.

The results of the study should be interpreted with some caution, as it was a deficiency of this study that, due to the laborious and demanding experimental design, we were not able to measure the same individuals in both winter and summer as was initially planned. Thus, a pair-wise statistical comparison was not possible. We aimed to reduce the effects of individual variation on the thermal response by careful selection of the subjects to match the anthropometric parameters between the study populations as closely as possible. In addition, for each individual we examined the effects of anthropometry on the thermal responses (see Study II), and produced individual plots of the thermal responses to confirm the consistency of the findings. From a statistical perspective the relatively small sample size may have precluded our ability to have sufficient power to rule out a Type II error. This could in some cases have resulted in an underestimation of potential physiologically meaningful changes.

#### 6.2.2 Effect of cold acclimation on thermal responses (IV, V)

Exposing subjects to cold for a 10-d cold period resulted in blunted thermal responses indicating cold habituation. Consistent with previous studies thermal sensations became less intense and habituated quickly, after 1-2 days of exposure in either cold air or water (Brück *et al.* 1976, Jansky *et al.* 1996, Leppäluoto *et al.* 2001, Smolander *et al.* 2004). The change in thermal sensations was rather similar to the previous studies (ca. one point in the scale). At the same time the subjects experienced slightly less cold discomfort. It is possible that the less intense cold sensations could be due to synaptic depression in neural connections between the hippocampal and cortical areas (Ganong 2003).

The observed dampened M suggests shivering habituation and is consistent with other studies where humans have been exposed to cold air for repeated, relatively short periods (Brück *et al.* 1976, Silami-Garcia & Haymes 1989, Hesslink *et al.* 1992). The higher skin temperatures (whole body, peripheral) indicate a dampened vasoconstriction. In a similar cold exposure protocol as ours, Leppäluoto *et al.* (2001) observed locally increased skin temperatures of  $1.5-2.0^{\circ}$ C (forearm) due to repeated exposures. However, in contrast to their study where the increase in skin temperature was abolished in the end part of the 10-d exposure, in our study T<sub>sk</sub> increased throughout the exposure period in a consistent manner. No changes in T<sub>rect</sub> were observed, similarly to studies using short (20 min-2 h) repeated exposure periods (Hesslink *et al.* 1992, Leppäluoto *et al.* 2001). A lowering of T<sub>rect</sub> (hypothermic habituation) requires repeated exposures lasting several hours or days (Kreider *et al.* 1959, Keatinge 1961).

The significantly smaller NA response to cold suggests diminished sympathetic activity and habituation of the autonomic nervous system (Leppäluoto *et al.* 2005). The finding is consistent with previous studies exposing subjects repeatedly to cold (Radomski & Boutelier 1982, Hesslink *et al.* 1992, Leppäluoto *et al.* 2001). The diminished sympathetic response results in less intense peripheral vasoconstriction (leading to higher skin temperatures), and is also reflected as lowered BP responses that were especially evident in the beginning of the cooling phase.

Overall, the most marked changes in thermal responses caused by cold acclimation could be seen in the initial cooling period (first 30 min of cold exposure). By the end of the exposure period (120 min) the changes in thermal responses tended to even out, and the differences between a non-cold acclimated and acclimated subject were smaller.

#### 6.3 Performance

#### 6.3.1 Seasonal effects on cognitive performance in cold (III)

It was hypothesised that pronounced changes in photoperiod and  $T_a$  occurring in a northern climate, like Finland, could through altered endocrinological responses result in more negative mood states in winter (Palinkas 2003) and an impaired cognitive performance. However, the results did not support this hypothesis for urban subjects, and no marked seasonal effects on cognitive performance during cold exposure were observed. Based on the completed Profile of Mood States (POMS) questionnaires (results not presented), the winter season was associated with more depression and forgetfulness, but no changes in the other parameters reflecting mood disturbances. Of the cognitive tasks, only two tests showed seasonal differences: the repeated acquisition task was performed more accurately in the winter and the addition-subtraction task in the summer compared with the other season. After controlling for test condition, sequencing of day and the time of day, season was not associated with accuracy in any of the five cognitive tasks. Only RTs were longer in summer in two tasks (simple RT, grammatical reasoning). Thus, these differences do not allow making any far-reaching conclusions supporting seasonal effects. These results are in line with the work by Brennen *et al.* (1999) who

found no evidence of impaired cognition in winter; performance was rather improved compared with summer in residents living in northern Norway. Otherwise, there are only a few studies where seasonal changes and cognition have been examined. Michalon *et al.* (1997) reported deficits in recognition memory and recall in SAD patients compared to controls measured in three consecutive winters. However, no comparison to summer was made. Drake *et al.* (1997) reported that cognitive performance was improved in summer in the Stroop test. The lack of association between season and cognition in our study could be supported by the fact that in contrast to outdoor workers residing in northern Finland (Hassi *et al.* 2001), no marked seasonal differences in thyroid hormone concentrations in young urban subjects were detected in our study (unpublished result). The lack of seasonal changes in thyroid function and cognition in these urban subjects further indicates that the cold exposure had been short (Study I) and probably insufficient to cause repeated cooling and changes in thermoregulation, metabolism or secretion of hormones (Study II).

The present study also examined the separate and combined effects of cold and the amount of light on cognition. Interestingly, as the conditions became progressively more severe (i.e., moving from warm conditions and bright light to cold conditions and bright light to cold conditions and dim light), less time was used to complete all the cognitive tasks. At the same time, accuracy improved in three tasks and deteriorated in two tasks. Furthermore, a cold environment and a reduction in the level of light was associated with a reduction in negative mood states, for example tension and anger (results not presented). The fact that the tasks were performed faster as well as more accurately (complex tasks) in more severe environmental conditions could support the arousal hypothesis (Payne 1959, Provins *et al.* 1973, Ellis 1982, Ellis *et al.* 1985, Enander 1987, Van Orden *et al.* 1990). It is possible that under the moderate cold exposure (slightly decreased skin temperature but no marked changes in  $T_{rect}$ ), and with the limited amount of light, arousal was increased to a level which improved performance. Thus, the subjects viewed the cold as a challenge and devoted more attention to the tasks as the environmental conditions became worse.

Cold exposure and the level of light affected the performance of complex and simple tasks differentially. The three tasks exhibiting improvement in accuracy as well as shorter RTs are designed to assess complex cognitive performance in areas of short-term memory, logical reasoning, and executive function. The two tasks exhibiting degradation in accuracy (addition-subtraction, simple RT) are designed to assess less complex elements of cognitive performance in areas of sustained attention and visuo-motor flexibility. Interestingly, performance in complex tasks was improved under cold and cold/dim conditions. This observation differs from some previous studies where especially complex tasks have been shown to be susceptible to both short-term moderate cooling (60-90 min at 5-10°C) (Bowen 1968, Ellis 1982, Enander 1987, Thomas et al. 1989) and more severe central cooling (Giesbrecht et al. 1993, Lockhart et al. 2005). However, it was hypothesised that with moderate cooling a certain level of arousal affects performance of complex tasks beneficially. This is consistent with the finding by Giesbrecht et al. (1993) where an initial cooling during cold-water immersion improved performance of complex cognitive tasks (backward digit span, Stroop test), which was eventually followed by a decrease in performance when central cooling progressed. Unexpectedly, the simple tasks were adversely affected by cold so that they were performed faster but less accurately. Most often the simple RT task has shown minimal decrements even under relatively severe cooling (Teichner 1958, Ellis 1982, Hoffman 2001). The addition-subtraction task, which measures sustained attention, was performed less accurately in the cold in the present study as well. A possible explanation for the decreased performance in these two simple tasks could be that as the task does not require that much attention compared with the complex tasks, the cold may be more considerable as a distraction factor.

The differential effects of cold on simple and complex tasks could also be viewed from the perspective of information processing, where a distinction between automated and controlled processing has been made (Shiffrin & Schneider 1977). The former is characterised by fast, and almost limitless capacity in processing information, and requires minimal effort, intention or subjective awareness. Controlled processing, on the other hand, require effort, intention and subjective awareness. Controlled (effortful) and automatic processing appears to regulate different aspects of the stress response (Ellenbogen *et al.* 2006). Cold stress and resulting changes in arousal/distraction could differentially affect these different modes of processing. Though, the exact mechanism remains to be further elucidated.

As was mentioned previously (chapter 6.2.1), the relatively small sample size may have precluded our ability to have sufficient power to rule out a Type II error when examining seasonal differences in cognitive performance. Furthermore, some of the accuracy measures may also have been susceptible to ceiling effects.

## 6.3.2 Cognitive performance during repeated cold exposures (IV)

The hypothesis of the cold acclimation study was that habituation to cold, leading to less intense cold sensations and discomfort, could affect cognitive performance beneficially. This would occur mainly through the reduction of cold-related distraction. One objective of the study was also to determine further how non-hypothermic cooling would affect complex and simple cognitive tasks and whether the performance strategy (e.g. speed vs. accuracy) would change due to repeated cold exposures. The association between changes in thermal responses and cognition was also emphasised. The study used a different test battery (ANAM) compared with Study III. However, some of the tests in this battery were the same (matching to sample, simple reaction time, logical reasoning). Altogether the tests measured the same elements of cognition in both test batteries.

The cold exposure introduced in this study caused a more intense cooling (ca. 600 kJ decrease in S, 6-7°C in  $T_{sk}$  and 0.4°C in  $T_{rect}$ ) compared with Study III (ca. 350 kJ decrease in S, ~3°C in  $T_{sk}$ , unaltered  $T_{rect}$ ). However, it can still be considered a non-hypothermic and moderate cold exposure, as the decrease in  $T_{rect}$  was not substantial. With regard to cognitive performance, slightly different responses compared with Study III were observed. Three distinct patterns of cognitive performance were detected. These were: 1) negative, reflected in increased response times and decreased accuracy and efficiency; 2) positive, reflected in decreases in both accuracy and response time and decreases in efficiency, and a pattern of decreases in both accuracy and response time.

With regard to a specific form of cognition (e.g. learning, memory, sustained attention), no clear pattern of the effects of cold could be distinguished. When examining task complexity some differences between simple and complex tasks were again detected. The correlation analyses demonstrated that, consistently with Study III, the simple RT task was again adversely affected by cold. However, in contrast to Study III, the response times were longer in cold, which reduced the overall efficiency. The different results can partially be explained by the variation in the multivariate analyses. In Study IV additional physiological variables were included in the model, which could have accounted for some of the observed differences between the studies.

When examining the thermal and cardiovascular parameters a reduction in skin temperature, cold thermal sensations and an increase in BP were all significantly associated with longer RTs and reduced efficiency in the simple RT task (Table 4, Study IV). Furthermore, in the regression analysis the increase in DBP and decrease in HR were independent predictors of longer RTs and reduced efficiency in the simple RT task. Cardiovascular reactions in response to cold stress thus seem to be connected to impaired cognitive performance.

The observed positive and mixed responses in performance in the cold are consistent with the abovementioned arousal hypothesis (chapter 6.3.1). In the present study a slight reduction in  $T_{rect}$  (0.4°C) was an independent predictor of shorter RTs and increased efficiency in all of the cognitive tasks. Consistent with this result, shorter RTs at cold exposures of 4-5°C and lasting for 50-60 min have been demonstrated (Shurtleff *et al.* 1994, Van Orden *et al.* 1996), suggesting faster CNS processing (Van Orden *et al.* 1996). The second pattern of arousal was illustrated by shorter RTs, but also reduced accuracy resulting in unaltered efficiency. This observation is consistent with the studies where shorter response latencies or sample response times, but also an impaired matching to sample accuracy was observed in subjects exposed to 4-5°C for 30-60 min (Thomas *et al.* 1989, Shurtleff *et al.* 1994). In the present study cold sensations in hands, an increased BP and lowered HR predicted this type of response. This could suggest that the subjects were reaching a level of arousal which starts to cause initial performance decrements.

This study was also the first to follow the effects of repeated environmental stress on cognition for a longer time period. Thomas et al. (1989) observed that the effect of cold on matching to sample accuracy remained the same over three weekly repetitions. However, no emphasis has been given in previous studies on studying the effects of cold acclimation on cognition. The results of the present study showed that RTs became shorter and cognitive task efficiency improved significantly over the 10-d period both under control and cold exposures, suggesting that learning occurred under both conditions. In some of the tasks, these changes in performance tended to stabilise after approximately five days of exposure. The successive changes in cognitive performance over time did not differ markedly between control and cold. This would indicate that the observed cold acclimation responses during the 10-d period had little, if any, effects on cognitive performance. On the other hand, it is possible that less effort was needed to fulfil the same task in the cold in the end of the acclimation period, due to a lesser amount of cold discomfort. It should, however, be noted that cognitive performance was assessed at the end of each cold exposure. The most marked cold acclimation responses were seen in the beginning of each cold exposure and tended to even out as the cooling progressed. Therefore, in future research it could be of interest to follow the initial cooling period and to assess cognitive performance at repeated intervals.

Altogether, the two studies (III, IV) implicate that moderate cooling (decrease of  $T_{sk}$  of ca. 2-3°C) causes some beneficial effects on cognitive performance, especially in complex cognitive tasks. This is manifested as reduced RTs, suggesting an increased arousal. With a slightly more intense non-hypothermic cold exposure (decrease of  $T_{sk}$  of ca. 6-7°C), a mixture of different effects on cognitive performance is seen. The negative effects (longer RT) could indicate cold-induced distraction. The positive (shorter RTs, improved efficiency) and mixed effects (shorter RTs, reduced accuracy, unaltered efficiency) could support the arousal hypothesis and indicate that a level of arousal is approached where performance decrements begin to be observed.

Although not studied in detail in the present study, mood and motivation may significantly affect cognitive performance. Mood states are closely connected to the level of arousal (Thayer 1989). Hence, transient mood states could be affected by cold exposure, which changes the level of arousal. Motivation is tied to the distraction and arousal hypotheses and could also affect the performance of cognitive tasks. Highly motivated individuals may be more aroused; on the other hand, greater susceptibility to arousal may be a precursor to motivation. Highly motivated persons are also less susceptible to distraction. It is possible that motivation could mediate the relationship between cold exposure and cognitive performance. However, the association between mood, motivation and cognition in cold warrants further studies.

The observed negative effects of cold exposure on cognition may be of significance in situations requiring decision-making, or in reactions to emergency situations. An impaired cognitive performance could also deteriorate work productivity and safety in occupations requiring vigilance and concentration. Future studies are needed to assess further dose-response relations (e.g. linear, quadratic or other type) between thermoregulation and cognition. Individual characteristics (age, gender) could also affect cognitive performance in cold. Additional research could also be focused on determining the thresholds for cognitive decrements that occur either as a result of distraction or arousal.

## 6.3.3 Postural control during single and repeated exposures to cold (V)

A sufficient amount of postural control is needed to maintain balance. The importance of sufficient postural control is emphasised in winter, where the risk of falling is aggravated in cold conditions due to slippery surfaces and limited visibility (Gao *et al.* 2004). Maintaining one's balance requires constant fine-tuning of movements as well as concentration. The task itself (standing) is of low physical activity and is susceptible to cooling. It was hypothesised that superficial cooling, especially of the peripheral areas, might impair postural control due to changes in sensory or neuromuscular functions. The second hypothesis was that repeated exposures to cold, causing changes in thermoregulation (cold habituation responses), may improve postural control. This could occur for example due to dampening of shivering and a reduced need for corrective

movements. To our knowledge, this study was the first one to assess the effects of cold on whole-body postural control.

The main finding of the study was that cold exposure causes a significant increase in postural sway, indicating impaired postural control. The path length, which indicates the cumulative value of sway, increased by 70-90% in cold, which could indicate that more corrective movements are needed to maintain balance in cold. The loss of visual information when closing the eyes increased sway further, demonstrating the importance of vision in postural control. When closing the eyes the effect of cold on sway was less marked, possibly due to the fact that sway was already increased by the lack of visual information, partially masking the effects of cold.

We detected a decrement in postural sway over the 10-d period. On average the different sway parameters decreased by 10-40%, indicating motor learning. However, the changes in sway over the 10-d period was similar at 25°C and 10°C, implying that the observed cold habituation responses had little, if any, effects on sway. The increased muscle tone and shivering in the cold was not consistently associated with sway, nor did shivering intensity diminish over the 10-d period. It is possible that the measured shivering during the sway tests could have been momentarily suppressed due to focusing on the task, as has been shown to occur during short-term tasks, such as breath holding and arithmetical tasks (Israel *et al.* 1993).

Although the present study did not examine the mechanisms for the increase in sway in cold, it could be hypothesised that the impaired postural control could be due to a combination of changes in sensory, neural or motor functions due to cooling. Of the sensory elements, cooling can affect the ankle mechanoreceptors (Magnusson et al. 1990, Stal et al. 2003) or the proprioceptors located in the muscles, tendons and joints. Alterations in muscle spindle activity due to cooling can suppress tendon-reflex amplitudes, consequently affecting neuromuscular control (Oksa et al. 2000). The neural transmission of both afferent and efferent information may also be slowed down due to cooling of the nerves (Rutkove 2001). Furthermore, the effects of cooling on the functional properties of the muscles could render the fine-tuning of movements when maintaining balance more difficult (Oksa et al. 1995, Oksa et al. 1997). Although EMG activity was not consistently associated with sway, it is still possible that the increased muscle tone could affect postural control. Cooling has been shown to increase the viscosity in the synovial joints (Hunter et al. 1952), which could also affect regulation of body posture. Finally, the effects of cold as a discomfort and distraction factor should not be forgotten, either. Anxiety and adverse mood effects have been shown to alter postural control, possibly by interfering with sensory processing (Bolmont et al. 2002).

The finding of increased sway in the cold may be important to recognise during leisure-time or occupational activities performed in cold environmental conditions. Persons that are at higher risk of falling may be especially susceptible to the effects of cooling due to changes in their postural control. These population groups include the elderly and/or persons having impaired balance due to a neurological or musculoskeletal disorder (Gao *et al.* 2004, Demura *et al.* 2005, Korpelainen *et al.* 2005, Piirtola & Era 2006). For example, changes in lateral postural control may predict subsequent falls in the elderly (Piirtola & Era 2006). Further studies are needed to examine the mechanisms related to the impaired postural control in the cold. Particularly those population groups that are at higher risk of falling should be examined in this respect.

# 7 Conclusions

In the Finnish population, residing in a northern climate, the average outdoor cold exposure in winter was 4% (7 h per week) of the total weekly time. Most of the cold exposure occurs during the leisure time. Occupational exposure to cold is significant among agriculture, forestry, mining, factory work, construction work and related occupations, and 57% of men reported being exposed to cold more than 10 h per week. However, the average duration of cold exposure at work is relatively short or lacking. Men are more exposed to cold than women both during their occupational and leisure-time activities. Factors explaining increased cold exposure at work were: being employed in outdoor occupations, age and a lesser amount of education. Factors associated with more leisure-time cold exposure were: being employed in outdoor occupations, being a pensioner, housewife, unemployed, practising physical exercise, and reporting at least average health.

While exposed to cold, seasonal differences in skin temperature, metabolic rate, circulation and thermal sensitivity were observed in northern urban residents. The observed thermal responses did not resemble cold habituation responses typical of cold acclimatisation. Rather, they resemble aggravated reactions in non-cold acclimatised subjects towards acute cold exposure. It is possible that the cold-protective clothing used, short cold exposure periods and high housing temperatures in winter prevent the development of cold habituation.

Exposure to non-hypothermic cold exposure resulted in positive, negative and mixed effects on cognition. The effect of cold on cognitive performance was similar in both seasons. Different effects of moderate cold on simple and complex tasks were detected. Simple tasks were impaired in cold, while in complex tasks both positive, negative and mixed effects were observed. Repeated exposures to moderate cold resulted in learning, which occurred to the same extent as in a warm environment. The observed cold habituation responses did not affect cognition. It is suggested that moderate cold exposure affects cognitive performance through different mechanisms related to either distraction or through different patterns of arousal caused by the cold exposure.

Whole-body exposure to cold, causing superficial, but no marked deep body cooling, increases postural sway considerably, indicating an impaired postural control. Sway increased on average by 70-90% in cold. It is possible that more corrective movements

are needed to maintain balance in the cold due to changes in sensory functions or neuromuscular control. The finding of an increased sway in cold may be significant especially in persons that are at higher risk of falling. Such population groups are for example elderly people, or persons having impaired balance due to a neurological or musculoskeletal disorder.

The present study provides new information of the cold exposure and acclimatisation patterns of northern residents as well as its functional significance on selected performance measures. The information from population-based cold exposure can be utilised when developing probabilistic population exposure models. Knowledge on the effects of acute and repeated exposures to moderate cold on psychological and physical performance is usable when producing occupational health care and safety strategies for cold work. The information may also be utilised for developing monitoring systems predicting cold hazards. Health care targeted to special population groups at higher risk for adverse cold effects can implement the knowledge in their practices.

Further modelling is needed where the interrelations between cold exposure, thermoregulation, endocrinology and performance (psychological, physical) are analysed in conjunction with each other. These models should also aim at including the effects of individual characteristics.

## References

- Andersen KL, Loyning Y, Nelms JD, Wilson O, Fox RH & Bolstad A (1960) Metabolic and thermal responses to a moderate cold exposure in nomadic Lapps. J Appl Physiol 15: 649-653.
- Arens E, Zhang H & Huizenga C (2006) Partial-and whole body thermal sensations and comfort-Part I: uniform environmental conditions. J Therm Biol 31: 53-59.
- Baddeley AD, Cuccaro WJ, Egstrom GH, Weltman G & Willis MA (1975) Cognitive efficiency on divers working in cold water. Hum Factors 17(5): 446-454.
- Bittel J (1992) The different types of general cold adaptation in man. Int J Sports Med 13 (Suppl.1): S172-S176.
- Bittel JHM, Livecchi-Gonnot GH, Hanniquet AM, Poulain C & Etienne J-L (1989) Thermal changes observed before and after J.-L. Etienne's journey to the North Pole. Eur J Appl Physiol 58: 646-651.
- Bittel JH (1987) Heat debt as an index for cold adaptation in men. J Appl Physiol 62(4):1627-1634.
- Bligh J (1979) The central neurology of mammalian thermoregulation. Neuroscience 4: 1213-1216.
- Bogoyavlenskiy D & Siggner A (2004) Arctic Demography. In: AHDR (Arctic Human Development Report). Akureyri: Stefansson Arctic Institute, 27-41.
- Bolmont B, Gangloff P, Vouriot A & Perrin PP (2002) Mood states and anxiety influences abilities to maintain balance control in health human subjects. Neurosci Lett 329: 96-100.
- Boulant J (1981) Hypothalamic mechanisms in thermoregulation. Feder Proc 40: 2843-2850.
- Bowen HM (1968) Diver performance and the effects of cold. Hum Factors 10(5): 445-464.
- Brennen T, Martinussen M, Hansen BO & Hjemdal O (1999) Arctic cognition: a study of cognitive performance in summer and winter at 69°. Appl Cogn Psychol 13: 561-580.
- Bridgman SA (1991) Peripheral cold acclimatization in Antarctic Scuba divers. Aviat Space Environ Med 62: 733-738.
- Brown GM & Page J (1952) The effect of chronic exposure to cold on temperature and blood flow of the hand. J Appl Physiol 5: 221-227.
- Brück K, Baum E & Schwennike P (1976) Cold-adaptive modifications in man induced by repeated short-term cold-exposures and during a 10-day and –night cold-exposure. Phlügers Arch 363: 125-133.
- BS7915 (1998) Ergonomics of the thermal environment. Guide to design and evaluation of working practices for cold indoor environments. British Standards Institution.
- Budd GM, Brotherhood JR, Beasley FA, Hendrie AL, Jeffery SE, Lincoln GJ & Solaga AT (1993) Effects of acclimatization to cold baths on men's responses to whole-body cooling in air. Eur J Appl Physiol 67: 438-449.

- Budd GM, Brotherhood JR, Hendrie AL & Jeffery SE (1991) Effects of fitness, fatness, and age on men's responses to whole body cooling in air. J Appl Physiol 71(6): 2387-2393.
- Budd GM & Warhaft N (1966a) Cardiovascular and metabolic responses to noradrenaline in man, before and after acclimatization to cold in Antarctica. J Physiol 186: 233-242.
- Budd GM & Warhaft N (1966b) Body temperature, shivering, blood pressure and heart rate during a standard cold stress in Australia and Antarctica. J Physiol 186: 216-232.
- Cabanac M, Massonnet B & Belaiche R (1972) Preferred skin temperature as a function of internal and mean skin temperature. J Appl Physiol 35: 699-703.
- Cannon B & Nedergaard J (2004) Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. Physiol Rev 84: 277-359.
- Castellani JW & O'Brien C (2005) Peripheral vasodilation responses to prevent local cold injuries. In: Prevention of cold injuries (pp. KN2-1-KN2-14). Meeting proceedings NATO RTO-MP-HFM-126.
- Castellani JW, Young AJ, Kain JE & Sawka MN (1999) Thermoregulatory responses to cold water at different times of the day. J Appl Physiol 87(1): 243-246.
- Castellani JW, Young AJ, Sawka MN & Pandolf KB (1998) Human thermoregulatory responses during serial cold-water immersions. J Appl Physiol 85(1): 204-209.
- Cheung SS & Sleivert GG (2004) Lowering of skin temperature decreases isokinetic maximal force production independent of core temperature. Eur J Appl Physiol 91(5-6): 723-728.
- Coleshaw SRK, Van Someren RNM, Wolff AH, Davis HM & Keatinge WR (1983) Impaired memory registration and speed of reasoning caused by low body temperature. J Appl Physiol 55(1): 27-31.
- Comeau MJ, Potteiger JA & Brown LE (2003) Effects of environmental cooling on force production in the quadriceps and hamstrings. J Strength Cond Res 17(2): 279-84.
- Constant EL, Adam S, Seron X, Bruyer R, Seghers A & Daumerie C (2005) Anxiety and depression, attention, and executive functions in hypothyroidism. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 11(5): 535-544.
- Cymerman A, Young AJ, Francis TJ, Wray DD, Ditzler DT, Stulz D, Bovill M & Muza SR (2002) Subjective symptoms and postural control during a disabled submarine simulation. Undersea Hyperb Med 29(3): 204-215.
- Daanen HAM (2003) Finger cold-induced vasodilation: a review. Eur J Appl Physiol 89(5):411-26.
- Daanen HA & Ducharme M (1999) Finger cold-induced vasodilation during mild hypothermia, hyperthermia and at thermoneutrality. Aviat Space Environ Med 70(12): 1206-1210.
- Danet S, Richard F, Montaye M, Beauchant S, Lemaire B, Graux C, Cottel D, Marecaux N & Amouyel P (1999) Unhealthy effects of atmospheric temperature and pressure on the occurrence of myocardial infarction and coronary deaths. A 10-year survey: the Lille-World Health Organization MONICA project (Monitoring trends and determinants in cardiovascular disease). Circulation. 100(1): E1-E7.
- Davis FM, Baddeley AD & Hancock TR (1975) Diver performance: the effect of cold. Undersea Biomed Res 2(3): 195-213.
- Davis TRA (1961) Chamber cold acclimatization in man. J Appl Physiol 16 (6): 1011-1015.
- Davis TRA & Johnston DR (1961) Seasonal cold acclimatization in man. J Appl Physiol 16(2): 231-234.
- Demura S, Kitabayashi T, Kimura A & Matsuzawa J (2005) Body sway characteristics during static upright posture in health and disordered elderly. J Physiol Anthropol Appl Hum Sci 24(5): 551-555.
- Dewhurst S, Riches PE, Nimmo MA & De Vito G (2005) Temperature dependence of soleus hreflex and M wave in young and older women. Eur J Appl Physiol 94: 491-499.
- DIN33404-5 Climate at workplaces and their environments. Part 5: Ergonomic design of cold workplaces. Deutsche norm.
- Donaldson GC, Wilkinson TMA, Hurst JR, Perera WR & Wedzicha JA (2005) Exacerbations, and time spent outdoors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171(5): 446-452.
- Donaldson GC & Keatinge WR (2003) Cold related mortality in England and Wales; influence of social class in working and retired age groups. J Epidemiol Community Health 57: 790-791.
- Donaldson GC, Rintamäki H & Näyhä S (2001) Outdoor clothing: its relationship to geography, climate, behaviour and cold-related mortality in Europe. Int J Biometeorol 45: 45-51.
- Donaldson GC, Ermakov SP, Komarov YM, McDonald CP & Keatinge WR (1998a) Cold related mortalities and protection against cold in Yakutsk, eastern Siberia: observation and interview study. BMJ 317: 978-982.
- Donaldson GC, Tchernjavskii VE, Ermakov SP, Bucher K & Keatinge WR (1998b) Winter mortality and cold stress in Yekaterinburg, Russia: interview survey. BMJ 316: 514-518.
- Drake CL, Schwartz PJ, Turner EH & Rosenthal NE (1997) Cognitive performance in seasonal affective disorder: pattern recognition and the Stroop task. J Nerv & Ment Dis. 185: 56-59.
- Durnin JVGA & Rahaman, MM (1967) The assessment of the amount of fat in the human body from measurements of skinfold thickness. Br J Nutr 21: 681-689.
- Eagan CJ (1963) Local vascular adaptation to cold in man. Federat Proceed 22: 947-952.
- Elkington EJ (1968) Finger blood flow in Antarctica. J Physiol 199: 1-10.
- Ellenbogen MA, Schwartzman AE, Stewart J & Walker C-D (2006) Automatic and effortful emotional information processing regulates different aspect on the stress response. Psychoneuroendocrinol. 31: 373-387.
- Ellis HD, Wilcock SE & Zaman SA (1985) Cold and performance: the effects of information load, analgesics, and the rate of cooling. Aviat Space Environ Med 56: 233-237.
- Ellis HD (1982) The effects of cold on the performance of serial choice reaction time and various discrete tasks. Hum Factors 24(5): 589-598.
- Elsner RW, Andersen KL & Hermansen L (1960a) Thermal and metabolic responses of Arctic Indians to moderate cold exposure at the end of winter. J Appl Physiol 15: 659-661.
- Elsner RW, Nelms JD & Irving L (1960b) Circulation of heat to the hands of Arctic Indians. J Appl Physiol 15(4): 662-666.
- Enander A (1987) Effects of moderate cold on performance of psychomotor and cognitive tasks. Ergonomics 30(10): 1431-1445.
- Eng H & Mercer JB (1998) Seasonal variations in mortality caused by cardiovascular diseases in Norway and Ireland. J Cardiovasc Risk 5(2): 89-95.
- Erikson H, Krog J, Andersen KL & Scholander PF (1956) The critical temperature in naked man. Acta Physiol Scand 37: 35-39.
- Ervasti O, Juopperi K, Kettunen P, Remes J, Rintamaki H, Latvala J, Pihlajaniemi R, Linna T & Hassi J (2004) The occurrence of frostbite and its risk factors in young men. Int J Circumpolar Health 63(1): 71-80.
- Fanger PO (1970) Thermal comfort. Copenhagen. Danish Technical Press.
- Farrace S, Ferrara M, Angelis C, Trezz R, Cenni P, Peri A, Casagrande M & DeGennaro L (2003) Reduced sympathetic outflow and adrenal secretory activity during a 40-day stay in the Antarctic. Int J Psychophysiol 49: 17-27.
- Farrace S, Cenni P, Tuozzi G, Casagrande M, Barbarito B & Peri A (1999) Endocrine and psychophysiological aspects of human adaptation to the extreme. Physiol & Behav 66(4): 613-620.
- Faulkner JA, Zerba E & Brooks SV (1990) Muscle temperature of mammals: cooling impairs most functional properties. Am J Physiol 28: 259-265.
- Ferriman A (2001) Excess winter deaths linked to temperatures in cold homes. BMJ 323:1207.

Finnish Meteorological Institute, Climate services. http://www.fmi.fi.

- FitzGibbon T, Hayward JS & Walker D (1984) EEG and visual evoked potentials of conscious man during moderate hypothermia. Eletroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 58(1): 48-54.
- Gagge AP, Stolwijk A & Hardy J (1967) Comfort and thermal sensations and associated physiological responses at various ambient temperatures. Environ Res 1: 1-20.
- Galloway VA, Leonard WR & Ivakine E (2000) Basal metabolic adaptation of the Evenki reindeer herders of Central Siberia. Am J Hum Biol 12(1): 75-87.
- Ganong WF (2003) Review of medical physiology. 21<sup>st</sup> ed. Lange Medical books/McGraw-Hill. New York.
- Gao C & Abeysekera J. (2004) A systems perspective of slip and fall accidents on icy and snowy surfaces. Ergonomics 47(5): 573-598.
- Gavhed D, Mäkinen T, Holmér I & Rintamäki H (2000) Face temperature and cardiorespiratory responses to wind in thermoneutral and cool subjects exposed to -10 degrees C. Eur J Appl Physiol 83(4 -5): 449-456.
- Giesbrecht GG (2000) Cold stress, near drowning and accidental hypothermia: a review. Aviat Space Environ Med 71(7): 733-752.
- Giesbrecht GG, Arnett JL, Vela E & Bristow GK (1993) Effect of task complexity on mental performance during immersion hypothermia. Aviat Space Environ Med 64: 206-211.
- Golden FS & Tipton MJ (1988) Human adaptation to repeated cold immersions. J Physiol 396: 349-363.
- Green BG (2004) Temperature perception and nociception. J Neurobiol 61: 13-29.
- Gyllerup S, Lanke J, Lindholm LH & Schersten B (1991) High coronary mortality in cold regions of Sweden. J Intern Med 230(6): 479-485.
- Hajat S, Bird W & Haines A (2004) Cold weather and GP consultations for respiratory conditions of elderly people in 16 locations in the UK. Eur J Epidemiol 19 (10): 959-968.
- Hammel HT, Elsner RW, Andersen KL, Scholander PF, Coon CS, Medina A, Strozzi L, Milan FA & Hock RJ (1960) Thermal and metabolic responses of the Alacuf Indians to moderate cold exposure. WADD Technical report 60-633.
- Hardy JD & DuBois EF (1938) The technic of measuring radiation and convection. J Nutr 15: 461-475.
- Harinath K, Malhotra AS, Pal KK, Prasad R, Kumar R & Sawhney RC (2005) Autonomic nervous system and adrenal response to cold in man at Antarctica. Wilderness Environ Med 16(2): 81-91.
- Hart JS, Sabean HB, Hildes JA, Depocas F, Hammel HT, Andersen KL, Irving L & Foy G (1962) Thermal and metabolic responses of coastal Eskimos during a cold night. J Appl Physiol 17: 953-960.
- Hassi J, Rytkönen M, Kotaniemi J & Rintamäki H (2005) Impacts of cold climate on human heat balance, performance and health in circumpolar areas. Int J Circumpolar Health 64(5): 459-467.
- Hassi J (2005) Cold extremes and impact on health. In: Kirch W, Menne B, Bertollini R (eds) Extreme weather events and public health responses. Published on behalf of the WHO Regional office for Europe. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York, 59-67.
- Hassi J, Mäkinen TM & Rintamäki H (2005) Prediction and Prevention of Frostbite. In: Prevention of cold injuries (pp. KN1-KN1-10). Meeting proceedings NATO RTO-MP-HFM-126.
- Hassi J, Sikkilä K, Ruokonen A & Leppäluoto J (2001) The pituitary-thyroid axis in health men living under subarctic climatological conditions. J Endocrinol 169: 195-203.
- Hassi J & Mäkinen TM (2000) Frostbites, occurrence, risk factors and consequences. Int J Circumpolar Health 59(2): 92-98.
- Hassi J, Gardner L, Hendricks S & Bell J (2000a) Occupational injuries in the mining industry and their association with statewide cold ambient temperatures in the USA. Am J Industr Med 38: 49-58.

- Hassi J, Remes J, Kotaniemi JT, Kettunen P & Näyhä S (2000b) Dependence of cold-related coronary and respiratory symptoms on age and exposure to cold. Int J Circumpolar Health 59(3-4): 210-215.
- Havenith G, Inoue Y, Luttikolt V & Kenney WL (1995) Age predicts cardiovascular, but not thermoregulatory responses to humid heat stress. Eur J Appl Physiol 70: 88-96.
- Hensel H (1981) Thermoreception and temperature regulation. Monographs of the physiological society No. 38. Academic Press, London.
- Hesslink RL, D'Alesandro MM, Armstrong DW & Reed HL (1992) Human cold air habituation is independent of thyroxine and thyrotropin. J Appl Physiol 72 (6): 2134-2139.
- Hisdal J & Reinertsen RE (1998) Seasonal changes in finger blood flow in urban citizens. In: Problems with cold work. Holmér, I, Kuklane K. Arbete och hälsa 18: 172-174.
- Hoffman RG (2001) Human psychological performance in cold environments. In: Pandolf, KB, Burr, RE (eds) Textbook of military medicine. Medical aspects of harsh environments. Office of the Surgeon General at TMM publications Borden Institute of Walter Reed Army Medical Center. Washington DC, 384-410.
- Holmér I (1994) Cold stress: Part II. The scientific basis (knowledge base) for the guide. Int J Industr Ergonom 14: 151-159.
- Hong SK, Rennie DW & Park YS (1986) Cold acclimatization and deacclimatization of Korean women divers. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 14: 231-268.
- Hong SK (1973) Pattern of cold adaptation in women divers of Korea (ama). Federation Proc 32: 1614-1622.
- Houdas Y, Colin J, Timbal J, Boutelier C & Guieu JD (1972) Skin temperature in warm environments and the control of sweat evaporation. J Appl Physiol 33(1): 99-104.
- Hunter J, Kerr EH & Rider RA (1952) The relation of joint stiffness upon exposure to cold and the characteristics of synovial fluid. Can J Med Sci 30: 367-377.
- Inoue Y, Nakao M, Ueda H & Araki T (1995) Seasonal variation in physiological responses to mild cold air in young and older men. Int J Biometeorol 38(3): 131-136.
- Irving L, Andersen KL, Bolstand A, Elsner RW, Hildes JA Loyning Y, Nelms JD, Peyton LJ & Whaley RD (1960) Metabolism and temperature of Arctic Indian men during a cold night. J Appl Physiol 15: 635-644.
- ISO 10551 (1995) Ergonomics of the thermal environment-Assessment of the influence of the thermal environment using subjective judgement scales. International Standards Organization, Geneva.
- ISO 8996 (1990) Ergonomics-determination of metabolic heat production. International Standards Organization, Geneva.
- ISO 9920 (1988) Estimation of the thermal characteristics of a clothing ensemble. International Standards Organization, Geneva.
- ISO 7730 (1984) Moderate thermal environments-Determination of the PMV and PPD indices and specification of the conditions for thermal comfort. International Standards Organizatiom, Geneva.
- ISO TR 11079 (1992) Evaluation of cold environments: Determination of required clothing insulation, IREQ, Geneva: International Standards Organisation.
- Israel DJ, Wittmers LE, Hoffman RG & Pozos RS (1993) Suppression of shivering by breath holding, relaxation, mental arithmetic, and warm water ingestion. Aviat Space Environ Med 64 (12): 1108-1112.
- IUPS Thermal commission (2001) Glossary of terms for thermal physiology. Jpn J Physiol 51(2): 245-280.
- Jansky L, Janakova H, Ulicny B, Sramek P, Hosek V, Heller J & Parizkova J (1996) Changes in thermal homeostasis in humans due to repeated cold water immersions. Phlügers Arch 432: 368-372.

- Johnson KO, Darian-Smith I & LaMotte C (1973) Peripheral neural determinants of temperature discrimination in man: a correlative study of responses to cooling skin. J Neurophysiol 36: 347-370.
- Juopperi K, Remes J & Hassi J (2003) Paleltumavammojen esiintyvyys ja niiden syntyyn vaikuttavat riskitekijät nuorilla. Sotilaslääketieteellinen aikakausilehti 40: 174-180. (The occurrence of frostbite and its risk factors in young people, J of Social Med, abstract in English).
- Kabat MH, Kane RL, Jefferson AL, & DiPino RK (2001) Construct validity of selected Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (ANAM) battery measures. Clin Neuropsychol 15(4): 498-507.
- Karst H, Steiniger J, Noack R & Steglich HD (1984) Diet-induced thermogenesis in man: thermic effects of single proteins, carbohydrates and fats depending on their energy amount. Ann Nutr Metab. 28(4): 245-252.
- Keatinge WR, Donaldson GC, Bucher K, Jendritzky G, Cordioli E, Martinelli M, Katsouyanni K, Kunst AE, McDonald C, Näyhä S & Vuori I (2000) Winter mortality in relation to climate. Int J Circumpolar Health 59 (3-4): 154-157.
- Keatinge WR (1961) The effect of repeated daily exposure to cold and of improved physical fitness on the metabolic and vascular response to cold air. J Physiol 157: 209-220.
- Kenshalo DR (1970) Psychophysical studies of temperature sensitivity. In: (Neff WD ed) Contributions to sensory physiology. Academic Press, New York.
- Klepeis NE, Nelson WC, Ott WR, Robinson JP, Tsang AM, Switzer P, Behar JV, Hern SC & Engelmann WH (2001). The national human activity pattern survey (NHAPS): a resource for assessing exposure to environmental pollutants. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol 11(3): 231-252.
- Kloner RA, Poole WK & Perritt RL (1999) When throughout the year is coronary death most likely to occur? A 12-year population-based analysis of more than 220 000 cases. Circulation 100: 1630-1634.
- Korpelainen R, Kaikkonen H, Kampman V & Korpelainen JT (2005) Reliability of an inclinometric method for assessment of body sway. Technology and Health Care 13: 1-10.
- Kotaniemi J-T, Latvala J, Lundbäck B, Sovijärvi A, Hassi J & Larsson K (2003) Does living in a cold climate or recreational skiing increase the risk for obstructive respiratory diseases or symptoms. Int J Circumpolar Health 62(2): 142-157.
- Kotaniemi, J-T, Pallasaho P, Sovijärvi A, Laitinen LA & Lundbäck B (2002) Respiratory symptoms and asthma in relation to cold climate, inhaled allergens and irritants. J Asthma 39: 649-658.
- Kreider MB, Iampietro PF, Buskirk ER & Bass DE (1959) Effect of continuous cold exposure on nocturnal body temperatures of man. J Appl Physiol 14(1): 43-45.
- Krog J, Folkow B, Fox RH & Andersen KL (1960) Hand circulation in the cold of Lapps and North Norwegian fishermen. J Appl Physiol 15(4): 654-658.
- Kunst AE, Looman CW & Mackenbach JP (1993) Outdoor air temperature and mortality in The Netherlands: a time-series analysis. Am J Epidemiol 137(3): 331-341.
- Langkilde G, Alexandersen K, Wyon DP & Fanger PO (1973) Mental performance during slight cool or warm discomfort. Arch Scr Physiol 27: A511-A518.
- Lapp MC & Gee GK (1967) Human acclimatization to cold water immersion. Arch Environ Health 15(5): 568-579.
- Latash ML (1998). In: Neurophysiological basis of movement. Human Kinetics.
- Laurberg P, Andersen S & Karmisholt J (2005) Cold adaptation and thyroid hormone metabolism. Horm Metab Res 37: 545-549.

- LeBlanc J, Ducharme MB & Thompson M (2004) Study on the correlation of the autonomic nervous system responses to a stressor of high discomfort with personality traits. Physiol & Behav 82(4): 647-652.
- LeBlanc J, Ducharme MB, Pasto L & Thompson M (2003) Response to thermal stress and personality. Physiol & Behav 80: 69-74.
- LeBlanc J (1992) Mechanisms of adaptation to cold. Int J Sports Med 13 (suppl. 1): S169-S172.
- LeBlanc J, Dulac S, Cote J & Girard B (1975) Autonomic nervous system and adaptation to cold in man. J Appl Physiol 39(2): 181-186.
- LeBlanc J (1962) Local adaptation to cold of Gaspe' fishermen. J Appl Physiol 17: 950-952.
- LeBlanc JJ, Hildes JA & Heroux O (1960) Tolerance of Gaspé fishermen to cold water. J Appl Physiol 15: 1031-1034.
- Lee YH & Tokura H (1993) Seasonal adaptation of thermal and metabolic responses in men wearing different clothing at 10 degrees C. Int J Biometeorol 37(1): 36-41.
- Leech JA, Nelson WC, Burnett RT, Aaron S & Raizenne M (2002) It's about time: A comparison of Canadian and American time-activity pattern. J Exp Analysis and Environ Epidemiol 12: 427-432.
- Leftheriotis G, Savourey G, Saumet JL & Bittel J (1990) Finger and forearm vasodilatory changes after local cold acclimation. Eur J Appl Physiol 60(1): 49-53.
- Lehmuskallio E, Hassi J & Kettunen P (2002) The skin in the cold. Int J Circumpolar Health 61(3): 277-286.
- Leonard WR, Sorensen MV, Galloway VA, Spencer GJ, Mosher MJ, Osipova L & Spitsyn VA (2002) Climatic influences on basal metabolic rates among circumpolar populations. Am J Human Biology 14: 609-620.
- Leppäluoto J, Pääkkönen T, Korhonen I & Hassi J. (2005) Pituitary and autonomic responses to cold exposures in man. Acta Physiol Scand 184(4): 255-264.
- Leppäluoto J, Korhonen I & Hassi J (2001) Habituation of thermal sensations, skin temperatures, and norepinephrine in men exposed to cold air. J Appl Physiol 90: 1211-1218.
- Leppäluoto J, Sikkilä K & Hassi J (1998) Seasonal variation of serum TSH and thyroid hormones in males living in subarctic environmental conditions. Int J Circumpolar Health 57: 383-385.
- Levinson D, Reeves D, Watson J & Harrison M (2005) Automated neuropsychological assessment metrics (ANAM) measures of cognitive effects of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 20(3): 403-408.
- Lewis T (1930) Observations upon the reactions of vessels of the human skin to cold. Heart 15: 1031-1034.
- Li X, Tokura H & Midorikawa T (1994) The effects of two different types of clothing on seasonal cold acclimation of thermophysiological responses. Int J Biometeorol 38: 40-43.
- Livingstone SD (1976) Changes in cold-induced vasodilatation during Arctic exercises. J Appl Physiol 40(3): 455-457.
- Livingstone SD, Romet T, Keefe AA & Nolan RW (1996) Changes in cold tolerance due to a 14day stay in the Canadian Arctic. Int J Biometeorol 39 (4): 182-186.
- Lockhart TL, Jamieson CP, Steinman AM & Giesbrecht GG (2005) Life jacket design affects dorsal head and chest exposure, core cooling, and cognition in 10 degrees C water. Aviat Space Environ Med 76(10): 954-962.
- Long WB 3rd, Edlich RF, Winters KL & Britt LD (2005) Cold injuries. J Long Term Eff Med Implants. 15(1): 67-78.
- Magnusson M, Enbom H, Johansson R & Wiklund J (1990) Significance of pressor input from the human feet in lateral postural control. The effect of hypothermia on galvanically induced bodysway. Acta Otolaryngol 110(5-6): 321-327.
- Mallet ML (2002) Pathophysiology of accidental hypothermia. 95(12): 775-785.

- Marino F, Sockler JM & Fry JM (1998) Thermoregulatory, metabolic and sympathoadrenal responses to repeated brief exposure to cold. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 58: 537-546.
- Marrao C, Tikuisis P, Keefe AA, Gil V & Giesbrecht GG (2005) Physical and cognitive performance during long-term cold weather operations. Aviat Space Environ Med 76(8): 744-752.
- Mathew L, Purkayastha SS, Jayashankar A & Nayar HS (1981) Physiological characteristics of cold acclimatization in man. Int J Biometeorol 25 (3): 191-198.
- McIntyre DA (1980) Indoor Climate. Applied Science Publishers Ltd, London.
- McKee CM (1989) Deaths in winter: can Britain learn from Europe? Eur J Epidemiol 5(2): 178-182.
- Meigal AY, Oksa J, Hohtola E, Lupandin Y & Rintamäki H (1998) Influence of cold shivering on fine motor control in the upper limb. Acta Physiol Scand 163: 41-47.
- Mercer J (2003) Cold-an underrated risk factor for health. Environ Res 92: 8-13.
- Mersch PPA, Middendorp HM, Bouhuys AL, Beersma DGM & van den Hoofdakker RH (1999) Seasonal affective disorder and latitude: a review of the literature. J Affective Dis 53: 35-48.
- Michalon M, Eskes GA & Mate-Kole CC (1997) Effects of light therapy on neuropsychological function and mood in seasonal affective disorder. J. Psychiatry Neurosci 22(1): 19-28.
- Middleton M, Andrews JF & Mercer JB (2000) Thermal and relative humidity conditions in the houses of the aged living in Ireland, and their risk of effective acute cold stress. Int J Circumpolar Health 59(3-4): 149-284.
- Muza SR, Young AJ, Sawka MN, Bogart JE & Pandolf KB (1988) Respiratory and cardiovascular responses to cold stress following repeated cold water immersion. Undersea Biomed Res 15(3): 165-178.
- Naidu M & Sachdeva U (1993) Effect of local cooling on skin temperature and blood flow of men in Antarctic. Int J Biometeorol 37: 218-221.
- Nelms JD & Soper DJG (1962) Cold vasodilatation and cold acclimatization in the hands of British fish filleters. J Appl Physiol 17(3): 444-448.
- Näyhä S (2005) Environmental temperature and mortality. Int J Circumpolar Health 64(5):451-459.
- Näyhä S (2002) Cold and the risk of cardiovascular diseases. A review. Int J Circumpolar Health 61(4): 373-80.
- O'Brien C, Young AJ, Lee DT, Shitzer A, Sawka MN & Pandolf KB (2000) Role of core temperature as a stimulus for cold acclimation during repeated immersion in 20 °C water. J Appl Physiol 89: 242-250.
- O'Brien JT, Sahakian BJ & Checkley S (1993) Cognitive impairments in patients with seasonal affective disorders. Br J Psychiatr 163: 338-343.
- Oksa J, Rintamäki H, Rissanen S, Rytky S, Tolonen U & Komi PV (2000) Stretch- and H-reflexes of the lower leg during whole-body cooling and local warming. Aviat Space Environ Med 71(2): 156-161.
- Oksa J (1998). Cooling and neuromuscular performance in man. Ph.D. thesis. University of Jyväksylä, Jyväskylä.
- Oksa J, Rintamäki H & Rissanen S (1997) Muscle performance and electromyographic activity of the lower leg muscles with different levels of cold exposure. Eur J Appl Physiol 75: 484-490.
- Oksa J, Rintamäki H, Mäkinen T, Hassi J & Rusko H (1995) Cooling-induced changes in muscular performance and EMG activity of agonist and antagonist muscles. Aviat Space Environ Med 66: 26-31.
- Palinkas LA (2003) The psychology of isolated and confined environments. Understanding human behavior in Antarctica. Am Psychol. 58(5): 353-363.
- Palinkas LA (2001) Mental and cognitive performances in the cold. Int J Circumpolar Health 60(3): 430-439.

- Palinkas LA, Reed HL, Reedy KR, Do NV, Case HS & Finney NS (2001) Circannual pattern of hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) function and mood during extended Antarctic residence. Psychoneuroendocrinol 26: 421-431.
- Park YS, Rennie DW, Lee IS, Park YD, Paik KS, Kang DH, Suh DJ, Lee SH, Hong SY & Hong SK (1983) Time course of deacclimatization to cold water immersion in Korean women divers. J Appl Physiol. 54(6): 1708-1716.
- Parsons K (2003) Human Thermal Environments. The effects of hot, moderate and cold on human health, comfort and performance. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Taylor & Francis, London and New York.
- Paton BC (2001) Cold, casualties and conquests: the effects of cold on warfare. In: Pandolf KB, Burr RE, Wenger CB (eds.) Textbook of military medicine. Medical aspects of harsh environments. Office of the Surgeon General at TMM publications Borden Institute of Walter Reed Army Medical Center. Washington DC. pp. 313-350.
- Payne RB (1959) Tracking proficiency as a function of thermal balance. J Appl Physiol 14(3): 387-389.
- Pease DG, Ludwig DA & Green EB (1980) Immediate and follow-up effects fo cold on performance time and its components, reaction time and movement time. Perceptual and Motor Skills 50: 667-675.
- Pellerin N, Deschuyteneer A & Candas V (2004) Local thermal unpleasantness and discomfort prediction in the vicinity of thermoneutrality. Eur J Appl Physiol 92(6): 717-720.
- Petrofsky JS & Lind AR (1980) The influence of temperature on the amplitude and frequency components of the EMG during brief and sustained isometric contractions. Eur J Appl Physiol 44: 189-200.
- Piirtola M & Era P (2006) Force platform measurements as predictors of falls among older peoplea review. Gerontology 52(1): 1-16.
- Pilcher JJ, Nadler E & Busch C (2002) Effects of hot and cold temperature exposure on performance: a meta-analytic review. Ergonomics 45(10): 682-698.
- Pivarnik JM, Reeves MJ & Rafferty AP (2003) Seasonal variation in adult leisure-time physical activity. Med. Sci Sports Exerc 35(6): 1004-1008.
- Provins, KA, Glencross DJ & Cooper CJ (1973) Thermal stress and arousal. Ergonomics 16(5): 623-631.
- Purkayastha SS, Selvamurthy W & Ilavazhagan G (1992) Peripheral vascular response to local cold stress of tropical men during sojourn in the Arctic cold region. Jpn J Physiol 42(6):877-89.
- Pääkkönen T (2002) Cold exposure and hormonal secretion: a review. Int J Circumpolar Health 61(3): 265-276.
- Radomski MW & Buguet A (2002) From Pole to Pole-A thermal challenge. Blowing hot and cold: protecting against climatic extremes. NATO RTO-MP-076. KN1-KN19.
- Radomski MW & Boutelier C (1982) Hormone responses of normal and intermittent coldpreadapted humans to continuous cold. J Appl Physiol 53(3): 610-616.
- Ramsey JD, Burford CL, Beshir MY & Jensen RC (1983) Effects of workplace thermal conditions on safe work behaviour. J Safety Res 14: 105-114.
- Reed HL, Reedy KR, Palinkas LA, Do NV, Finney NS, Case HS, LeMar HJ, Wright J & Thomas J (2001) Impairment in cognitive and exercise performance during prolonged Antarctic residence: effect of thyroxid supplementation in the polar triiodothyronine syndrome. J Clin Endocrin Metab 86: 110-116.
- Reed HL (1995) Circannual changes in thyroid hormone physiology: the role of cold environmental temperatures. Arctic Med Res 54 (Suppl 2): 9-15.
- Reed HL, Silverman ED, Shakir KM, Dons R, Burman KD & O'Brian JT (1990) Changes in serum triiodothyronine (T3) kinetics after prolonged Antarctic residence: the polar T3 syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 70(4): 965-974.

- Reid G (2005) ThermoTRP channels and cold sensing: what are they really up to? Pflügers Arch 451(1): 250-263.
- Reeves D, Kane R & Winter K (1995) Automatic neuropsychological assessment metrics (ANAM): Test administrator's guide version 3.11 (Report No. NCRF-TR-95-01). San Diego, CA: National Cognitive Recovery Foundation.
- Reilly A & Snyder B (2005) Raynaud phenomenon Am J Nurs 105(8): 56-65.
- Rintamäki H, Palinkas LA & Leppäluoto J (2005) Response to cold exposure and physiology of the body. Duodecim 121: 425-432 (in Finnish).
- Rintamäki H, Rissanen S, Mäkinen T & Peitso A (2004) Finger temperatures during military field training at 0 - -29 °C. J Thermal Biol 29(7-8): 857-860.
- Rintamäki H (2001) Human cold acclimatisation and acclimation. Int J Circumpolar Health 60(3): 422-429.
- Rintamäki H (2000) Predisposing factors and prevention of frostbite. Int J Circumpolar Health 59(2): 114-121.
- Rintamäki H, Hassi J, Smolander J, Louhevaara V, Rissanen S, Oksa J & Laapio H (1993) Responses to whole body and finger cooling before and after an Antarctic expedition. Eur J Appl Physiol 67: 380-384.
- Rivolier J, Goldsmith R, Lugg DJ & Taylor AJW (1988) In: Man in the Antarctic. Taylor & Francis, London.
- Rosenthal NE, Sack DA, Gillin JC, Lewy AJ, Goodwin F, Davenport Y, Mueller PS, Newsome DA & Wehr TA (1984) Seasonal affective disorder, a description of the syndrome and preliminary findings with light therapy. Arch Gen Psych 41: 72-80.
- Rutkove SB (2001) Effects of temperature on neuromuscular electrophysiology. Muscle Nerve 24(7): 867-882.
- Rytkönen M, Raatikka VP, Näyhä S & Hassi J (2005) Cold exposure and cold related symptoms. Duodecim 121: 419-423 (in Finnish).
- Sargeant AJ (1987) Effect of muscle temperature on leg extension force and short-term power output in humans. Eur J Appl Physiol 56: 693-698.
- Savourey G, Vallerand AL & Bittel JHM (1992) General and local cold adaptation after a ski journey in a severe arctic environment. Eur J Appl Physiol 64: 99-105.
- Scholander PF, Hammel HT, Hart JS, Le Messurier DH & Steen J (1958a) Cold adaptation in Australian aborigines. J Appl Physiol 113: 211-218.
- Scholander PF, Hammel HT, Andersen KL & Loyning Y (1958b) Metabolic acclimation to cold in man. J Appl Physiol 12(1): 1-8.
- Schrot J & Thomas JR (1988) Naval Medical Research Institute performance assessment battery software. Bethesda MD. Naval Medical Research Institute Report: 88-6.
- Shiffrin RM & Schneider W (1977) Controlled and automatic human information processing II. Detection, search and attention. Psychol Rev 84: 127-190.
- Shurtleff D, Thomas JR, Schrot J, Kowalski K & Harford R (1994) Tyrosine reverses a coldinduced working memory deficit in humans. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 47(4): 935-941.
- Silami-Garcia E & Haymes EM (1989) Effects of repeated short-term cold exposures on cold induced thermogenesis of women. Int J Biometeorol 33(4): 222-226.
- Smolander J, Mickelson M, Oksa J, Westerlund T, Leppäluoto J & Huttunen P (2004) Thermal sensation and comfort in women exposed repeatedly to whole-body cryotherapy and winter swimming in ice cold water. Physiol & Behav 82(4): 691-695.
- Snodgrass JJ, Leonard WR, Tarskaia LA, Alekseev VP & Krivoshapkin VG (2005) Basal metabolic rate in the Yakut (Sakha) of Siberia. Am J Human Biol 17(2): 155-172.
- Spencer FA, Goldberg RJ, Becker RC & Gore JM (1998) Seasonal distribution of acute myocardial infarction in the second National Registry of Myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol (6): 1226-1233.

- Stal F, Fransson PA, Magnusson M & Karlberg M (2003) Effects of hypothermic anesthesia of the feet on vibration-induced body sway and adaptation. J Vestib Res 13(1): 39-52.
- Stang PR & Weiner EL (1970) Diver performance in cold water. Hum Factors 12(4): 391-399.
- Statistics Finland. 2005. Time use survey. http://www.tilastokeskus.fi/til/akay/index\_en.html
- Stevens JC & Choo KK (1998) Temperature sensitivity of the body surface over the life span. Somatosens Motor Res 15(1): 13-28.
- Stocks JM, Taylor NAS, Tipton MJ & Greenleaf JE (2004) Human physiological responses to cold exposure. Aviat Space Environ Med 75: 444-457.
- Stocks JM, Patterson MJ, Hyde DE, Mittleman KD & Taylor NAS (2001) Metabolic habituation following repeated resting cold-water immersions is not apparent during low-intensity coldwater exercise. J Physiol Anthropol 20(5): 263-267.
- Stolwijk JA & Hardy JD (1966) Temperature regulation in man-a theoretical study. Pflügers Arch 291(2): 129-162.
- Taylor NAS (2006) Ethnic differences in thermoregulation: genotypic versus phenotypic heat adaptation. J Therm Biol 31: 90-104.
- Teichner WH (1958) Reaction time in the cold. J Appl Physiol 42: 54-59.
- Thayer RE (1989) In: The biophyschology of mood and arousal. Oxford University Press, New York.
- The Eurowinter Group (1997) Cold exposure and winter mortality from ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory disease, and all causes in warm and cold regions of Europe. The Lancet 349(9062): 1341-1346.
- Thomas JR, Ahlers ST, House JF & Schrot J (1989) Repeated exposure to moderate cold impairs matching-to-sample performance. Aviat Space Environ Med 60: 1063-1067.
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Schrauwen P, Van de Kerkhove S & Westerterp-Platenga MS (2002) Individual variation in body temperature and energy expenditure in response to mild cold. Am J Physiol (Physiol Endocrinol Metab) 282: E1077-E1083.
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Westerterp-Plantenga MS & van Hoydonck P (2001) Individual variation in the relation between body temperature and energy expenditure in response to elevated ambient temperature. Physiol & Behav 73(1-2): 235-242.
- van Ooijen AM, van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, van Steenhoven AA & Westerterp KR (2004) Seasonal changes in metabolic and temperature responses to cold air in humans. Physiol & Behav 82(2-3): 545-553.
- van Ooijen AMJ, van Marken Lichtenbelt WD & Westerterp KR (2001) Individual differences in body temperature and the relation to energy expenditure: the influence of mild cold. J Therm Biol 26: 455-459.
- Van Orden KF, Benoit SL & Osga GA (1996) Effects of cold air stress on the performance of a command and control task. Hum Factors 38(1): 130-141.
- Van Orden KF, Ahlers ST, Thomas JR, House JF & Schrot J (1990) Moderate cold exposure shortens evoked potential latencies in humans. Aviat Space Enivron Med 61: 636-639.
- Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Alfthan G, Pietinen P & Puska P (2000) Cardiovascular risk factor changes in Finland, 1972-1997. Int J Epidemiol 29: 49-56.
- Vaughan WS (1977) Distraction effect of cold water on performance of high-order tasks. Undersea Biomed Res 4(2): 103-116.
- Viitasalo MK, Kampman V, Sotaniemi KA, Leppävuori S, Myllylä VV & Korpelainen JT (2002) Analysis of sway in Parkinson's disease using a new inclinometry-based method. Mov Dis 17 (4): 663-669.
- Virokannas H (1996). Thermal responses to light, moderate and heavy daily outdoor work in cold weather. Eur J Appl Physiol 72(5-6): 483-489.

- Voets T, Droogmans G, Wissenbach U, Janssens A, Flockerzi V & Nilius B (2004) The principle of temperature-dependent gating in cold- and heat-sensitive TRP channels. Nature 430: 748-754.
- Von Mackensen S, Hoeppe P, Maarouf A, Tourigny P & Nowak D (2005) Prevalence of weather sensitivity in German and Canada. Int J Biometeorol 49: 156-166.
- Ward MM & Leigh JP (1993) Pooled time series regression analysis in longitudinal studies. J Clin Epidemiol 46 (/): 645-659.
- Webb P, Annis JF & Troutmann SJ (1978) Heat flow regulation, In: Y Houdis & JD Guieu (Eds.), New Trends in Thermal Physiology, Masson, Paris, 29-32.
- Weber JM & Haman F (2005) Fuel selection in shivering humans. Acta Physiol Scand 184(4): 319-329.
- Weingartner H, Cohen RM, Murphy DL, Martello J & Gerdt C (1981) Cognitive processes in depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 38(1): 42-47.
- Werner J (1980) The concept of regulation of human body temperature. J Therm Biol 5: 75-82.
- Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Strobbe H & Schrauwen P (2002) Energy metabolism in humans at a lowered ambient temperature. Eur J Clin Nutr 56(4): 288-296.
- WHO MONICA Project principal investigators (1988) The World Health Organization MONICA project (monitoring thrends and determinants of cardiovascular disease): a major international collaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 41: 105-14.
- Wilkinson P, Pattenden S, Armstrong B, Fletcher A, Kovats RS, Mangtani P & McMichael AJ (2004) Vulnerability of winter mortality in elderly people in Britain: population based study. BMJ 329(7467): 647.
- Wind Chill Temperature Index. http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/windchill/
- Wyndham CH & Loots H (1969) Responses to cold during a year in Antarctica. J Appl Physiol 27(5): 696-700.
- Wyndham CH & Morrison JF (1958) Adjustment to cold of Bushmen of the Kalahari desert. J Appl Physiol 13(2): 219-225.
- Xu C, Zhu G, Xue Q, Zhang S, Du G, Xi Y & Palinkas LA (2003) Effect of the Antarctic environment on hormone levels and mood of Chinese expeditioners. Int J Circumpolar Health 62(3): 255-267.
- Yarnitsky D (1997) Quantitative sensory testing. Muscle Nerve 20: 198-204.
- Young AJ (1996) Homeostatic responses to prolonged cold exposure: human cold acclimatization. In: Fregly MJ, Blatteis CM (Eds), Section 4: Environmental Physiology, vol 1, Handbook of Physiology. Oxford University Press, New York, 419-438.
- Young AJ, Muza SR, Sawka MN, Gonzalez RR & Pandolf KB (1986) Human thermoregulatory responses to cold air are altered by repeated cold water immersion. J Appl Physiol 60(5): 1542-1548.
- Zhang H, Huizenga C, Arens E & Wang D (2004) Thermal sensation and comfort in transient nonuniform thermal environments Eur J Appl Physiol 92(6): 728-733.

# Appendix 1

Table A1. Summary of studies (in alphabetical order) examining the effects of cold exposure on different forms of cognition (vigilance, reaction time, target tracking and memory).

Study	Cold exposure/clothing	Thermal responses	Cognitive task	Effects of cold
Baddeley et al. (1975)	60 min dive at 4.4- 5.6°C, wetsuits	T <sub>rect</sub> decreased 0.7°C	Reasoning, vigilance, memory	Deteriorated memory, no effect on reasoning or vigilance
Bowen (1968)	Exposure time varied, 8°C water		Clock test (short- term memory)	22% decrement in short-term memory
Coleshaw et al. (1983)	About 60 min at 15°C water	T <sub>aur</sub> *decreased at max 3.3°C, inter-individual differences	Memory test, simple arithmetic test, logical reasoning	Memory impaired when $T_{aur}$ below 36.7°C, severely impaired when $T_{aur}$ 35°C. Speed of calculation decreased, no effect on accuracy
Davis <i>et al.</i> (1975)	40 min dive at 20°C and 5°C, scuba equipment	$T_{sk}$ 21.5°C and $T_{rect}$ 36.8°C	Arithmetic, logical reasoning, digit span, memory and manual dexterity	Impaired arithmetics, logical reasoning, word recall and recognition performance
Ellis (1982)	1.5-2 h at -12°C, shorts	$T_{sk}$ 21°C and $T_{rect}$ to 36.3°C	SCRT**, simple RT, Stroop word colour test, verbal reasoning	Reduced accuracy in SCRT (200-300%), no effects on Simple RT and Stroop test, slightly better reasoning in cold
Ellis <i>et al.</i> (1985)	Fast cooling: 40 min -5°C, Slow cooling: 3 h at 8°C, shorts	Fast cooling: T <sub>sk</sub> 23°C, T <sub>rect</sub> 37°C Slow cooling: T <sub>sk</sub> 22.9°C, T <sub>rect</sub> 36.5°C	SCRT, Raven's Progressive Matrices	Reduced accuracy in SCRT (especially 8-choce task) when rapidly cooled, faster response times
Enander (1987)	60-90 min, 4-5°C, underwear, quilted trousers and jacket	T <sub>sk</sub> 28-33.2°C, T <sub>rect</sub> dropped 0.3°C (exp 1), 0.5°C higher (exp 2)	Colour word vigilance, Simple RT, Key tapping, digit addition, digit classification	More errors in tasks requiring rapid responses

Study	Cold exposure/clothing	Thermal responses	Cognitive task	Effects of cold
Giesbrecht et al. (1993)	55-80 min 8°C water	T <sub>core</sub> decreased by 2-4°C	Auditory attention, Benton visual recognition test, forward and backward digit span, Stroop test	Central cooling impaired complex tasks (Stroop test, backward digit span) but not simple tasks
Langkilde et al. (1973)	2.5 h at 18.6°C, cotton uniform (0.6 clo)	T <sub>sk</sub> 32.4°C, T <sub>rect</sub> 36.7°C	Arithmetic, word memory, clue- utilisation test	No effect of mild cold on performance
Lockhart <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2005)	max 65 min 10°C water or until T <sub>es</sub> <34°C	T <sub>es</sub> dropped to 33.5-34°C	Logical reasoning, Stroop-word color test, digit symbol coding, backward- digit span, paced auditory serial addition test	Decreased performance with central cooling in Stroop test (longer RT), more errors in digit symbol coding, backward digit span and PASAT-test
Marrao <i>et al.</i> (2005)	9-d winter survival course, T <sub>a</sub> -24 to 4°C, winter clothing	No change in $T_{core}$ , decreased $T_{fing}$	Logical reasoning, vigilance, planning test	No effect on cognition
Payne (1959)	Three conditions: 3 h 20 min at either 4°C, 13°C or 21°C, indoor clothing (1 clo)	Not measured, visual observations of shivering	Complex visual display task	Decreased tracking proficiency in cold, optimal functioning at 13°C
Pease <i>et al.</i> (1980)	Local cooling of hands and arms with ice for 30 min	Not measured	Reaction to light stimulus and completing a co- ordinated movement	Increased reaction time with locally cooled subjects
Shurtleff <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1994)	60 min at 4°C (cognitive test performed after 30 min exposure)	Not measured	Delayed matching to sample	Impaired working memory in cold, faster response times
Stang & Weiner (1970)	5 x 90 min at 10, 15.5 and 21°C water, wet suits and SCUBA equipment	T <sub>sk</sub> about 25- 28°C at T <sub>w</sub> 10- 15°C, T <sub>rect</sub> not measured	Seven different underwater tasks, choice reaction time/simple mental arithmetic	Increased response time in cold to complete underwater assembly tasks

Study	Cold	Thermal	Cognitive task	Effects of cold
	exposure/clothing	responses		
Teichner (1958)	45  min rest + 65 min exercise at T <sub>a</sub> 's of 15.637°C and wind speeds 2-8.9 m/s, nude or arctic clothing	T <sub>sk</sub> 26.8- 32.7°C, T <sub>reet</sub> not measured	Reaction to verbal and light signal following a psychomotor task	Increased reaction time when wind speed ≥ 4.5 m/s at low ambient temperatures (-26°C)
Thomas <i>et al.</i> (1989)	90 min at 5°C, repeated three times	T <sub>sk</sub> 21.7°C, T <sub>rect</sub> 37.6°C, reported shivering	Matching to sample task	Impaired working memory in cold (decreased accuracy), choice reaction time longer, sample responses shorter
Van Orden <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1990)	50 min at 4°C, shorts, t-shirt, socks	No change in T <sub>rect</sub>	Visual, auditory event-related potentials, brainstem-auditory- evoked responses	Evoked potentials in cold showed shorter latencies=faster CNS processing
Van Orden <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1996)	60 min at 4°C, shorts, socks, t-shirt	Not measured	A 54-min military scenario task, complex cognitive functioning (command & control)	Less responses to scenario- following commands, greater tendency for mistakes
Vaughan (1977)	3 h at 15.5 and 4.5°C water, wet suits	T <sub>core</sub> 36.7- 36.8°C, local skin temperature decreased down to 22.9°C	arithmetic task, target detection, navigation	Increase in visual detection times in both temperatures

83

\*aural temperature, \*\*Serial choice reaction time

## **Original papers**

- I Mäkinen TM, Raatikka VP, Rytkönen M, Jokelainen J, Rintamäki H, Ruuhela R, Näyhä S & Hassi J Factors affecting outdoor exposure in winter: population-based study. Int J Biometeorol, in press.
- II Mäkinen TM, Pääkkönen T, Palinkas LA, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2004) Seasonal changes in thermal responses of urban residents to cold exposure. Comp Biochem Physiol Part A 139: 229-238.
- III Palinkas LA, Mäkinen TM, Pääkkönen T, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2005) Influence of seasonally adjusted exposure to cold and darkness on cognitive performance in urban circumpolar residents. Scand J Psychol 46: 239-246.
- IV Mäkinen TM, Palinkas LA, Reeves DL, Pääkkönen T, Rintamäki H, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2006) Effects of repeated exposures to cold on cognitive performance in humans. Physiol & Behav 87(1): 166-176
- V Mäkinen TM, Rintamäki H, Korpelainen JT, Kampman V, Pääkkönen T, Oksa J, Palinkas LA, Leppäluoto J & Hassi J (2005) Postural sway during single and repeated cold exposures. Aviat Space Environ Med 76(10): 947-953.

Papers II-V were reprinted with the kind permission from the following publishers

- II, IV Elsevier Ltd.
- III Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- V Aerospace Medical Association

Original papers are not included in the electronic version of the dissertation.

### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS SERIES D MEDICA

- 862. Ylönen, Riikka (2005) Characterization of the function of type XIII collagen in mice; specific roles during cardiovascular development and posnatally in bone modeling
- 863. Karihtala, Peeter (2005) Oxidative damage and counteracting mechanisms in breast carcinoma
- 864. Penttilä, Hannu (2005) Myocardial and cerebral preservation during off-pump coronary artery surgery
- 865. Törmäkangas, Liisa (2005) Experimental *Chlamydia pneumoniae* infection model: effects of repeated inoculations and treatment
- 866. Willig, Reeta (2006) Hip fracture—aspects of background factors and outcome
- 867. Pönkkö, Maija-Leena (2005) Erityisoppilaan psykiatrinen hoitoketju. Hoitoketjun tarpeen ja toiminnan monitahoarviointi
- 868. Leppilampi, Mari (2006) Functional and immunohistological studies on cancerassociated carbonic anhydrase IX
- 869. Nurmenniemi, Petri (2006) Inflammatory cells and mitotic activity of keratinocytes in gingival overgrowth induced by immunosuppressive- and nifedipine medication
- 870. Hinkula, Marianne (2006) Incidence of gynaecological cancers and overall and cause specific mortality of grand multiparous women in Finland
- 871. Syrjäpalo, Kyllikki (2006) Arvot ja arvostukset psykiatrisessa hoidossa. Henkilökunnan ja potilaiden näkemyksiä hoidon nykytilasta
- 872. Karinen, Liisa (2006) Chronic chlamydial infection: impact on human reproductive health. Reproductive health research in the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort (NFBC 1966)
- 873. Silvennoinen, Laura (2006) ERp57—Characterization of its domains and determination of solution structures of the catalytic domains
- 874. Sorppanen, Sanna (2006) Kliinisen radiografiatieteen tutkimuskohde. Käsiteanalyyttinen tutkimus kliinisen radiografiatieteen tutkimuskohdetta määrittävistä käsitteistä ja käsitteiden välisistä yhteyksistä
- 875. Erola, Tuomo (2006) Deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in Parkinson's disease. A clinical study

Book orders: OULU UNIVERSITY PRESS P.O. Box 8200, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland Distributed by OULU UNIVERSITY LIBRARY P.O. Box 7500, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland

#### UNIVERSITY OF OULU P.O. Box 7500 FI-90014 UNIVERSITY OF OULU FINLAND

### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS

#### SERIES EDITORS

SCIENTIAE RERUM NATURALIUM Professor Mikko Siponen

HUMANIORA

Professor Harri Mantila

TECHNICA

Professor Juha Kostamovaara

MEDICA

Professor Olli Vuolteenaho

SCIENTIAE RERUM SOCIALIUM Senior assistant Timo Latomaa

SCRIPTA ACADEMICA Communications Officer Elna Stjerna

OECONOMICA Senior Lecturer Seppo Eriksson

EDITOR IN CHIEF Professor Olli Vuolteenaho

EDITORIAL SECRETARY Publication Editor Kirsti Nurkkala

ISBN 951-42-8088-1 (Paperback) ISBN 951-42-8089-X (PDF) ISSN 0355-3221 (Print) ISSN 1796-2234 (Online)

